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The Honourable Lauren Moss MLA 
Minister for Education 
Parliament House 
DARWIN NT 0800

30 September 2020 

Dear Minister

RE: Department of Education 2019–20 Annual Report

I am pleased to present this report on the activities of the Northern Territory (NT) Department of Education (the department) from  
1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 in accordance with section 28 of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993, section 22  
of the Education Act 2015, section 12 of the Financial Management Act 1995 and section 131 of the Information Act 2002. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief as the Accountable Officer, the department’s system of internal control and audit provides 
reasonable assurance that:

a) Proper records of all transactions affecting the department are kept, and the department’s employees observe the provisions of  
the Financial Management Act 1995, the Financial Management Regulations 1995 and Treasurer’s Directions.

b) Department procedures afford proper internal control in accordance with the Treasurer’s Direction G2.2, including controls 
identified in the department’s risk management register, and a current description of such procedures is recorded in the Accounting 
and Property Manual, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 1995.

c) The department records incidents of suspected fraud in a fraud register in accordance with the Treasurer’s Direction – Fraud 
Control. The incidents are managed in accordance with the department’s Fraud Control Framework, including notification to the 
appropriate agencies. There is no material impact on the department’s financial statements.

d) In accordance with the requirements of section 15 of the Financial Management Act 1995, the internal audit capacity available to  
the department is adequate, and the results of internal audits have been reported to the Accountable Officer.

e) The financial statements in this annual report have been prepared from proper accounts and records and are in accordance with  
the Treasurer’s Directions.

f) All Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment have been satisfied.

g) Procedures within the department complied with the requirements of the Information Act 2002.

In addition, the Chief Executive of the Department of Corporate and Information Services has advised that in relation to items a), e)  
and g) and to the best of her knowledge and belief, proper records are kept of transactions undertaken by Department of Corporate  
and Information Services on behalf of the Department of Education, and the employees under her control observe the provisions of  
the Financial Management Act 1995, the Financial Management Regulations 1995 and Treasurer’s Directions. 

Yours sincerely

Karen Weston 
Chief Executive 

 EXECUTIVE 
Level 14, Mitchell Centre 

55–59 Mitchell Street, Darwin 
Postal address GPO Box 4821 

DARWIN, NT, 0801 
Tel (08) 8999 5857 

Fax (08) 8999 3537 
k.weston@nt.gov.au
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From the Chief Executive

It is a great privilege to present the 
Department of Education’s annual report 
for 2019–20 and to share some of the 
department’s highlights and achievements 
during the year.

Guided by the Education NT Strategy 
2018–22, the department continued  
to give students and young children  
right across the Northern Territory  
access to high quality teaching and 
learning in 2019–20. 

I would like to acknowledge and thank  
Ms Vicki Baylis, the previous Chief 
Executive, for her strong leadership 
over the last four years. It has put the 
department in a fantastic position to 
continue developing students’ and young 
children’s minds and abilities. 

To recognise the importance of equity 
in education, the Council of Australian 
Governments Education Council came 
together in Alice Springs in December 
2019 to sign the Mparntwe Education 
Declaration. The Declaration highlights  
the collective focus held by education 
leaders across the country to support 
every student to be the very best that they 
can be regardless of where they live or 
what challenges they face. 

As part of the whole-of-government 
approach to shared services, some of our 
colleagues transferred to the Department 
of Corporate and Information Services and 
the Department of Infrastructure, Planning 
and Logistics during the year. We will 
partner with these agencies to enhance 
how we support schools and regional 
offices through quality reporting and data 
analysis, workforce development and 
making our facilities safe and welcoming 
environments for all. 

Educators have been profoundly resilient 
in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
In the Northern Territory, I am proud to say 
we continued to give students and young 
children uninterrupted quality teaching 
and learning. We were the first jurisdiction 
to return to face-to-face learning, and 
we have maintained and increased our 
attendance and engagement in learning.

We continue to be agile and innovative 
in our practice and policy. I look forward 
to working with staff, colleagues in both 
Northern Territory and Commonwealth 
Government agencies and our 
stakeholders to support students and 
families to engage, grow and achieve. 

We will continue to strengthen our 
partnerships across government, with 
a focus on enhancing inclusivity and 
equity in education for all children and 
families. We will increase the breadth of 
diversity in our educators and support 
staff, acknowledging the role that cultural 
knowledge and relationships with 
community play in engaging students  
and families. 

Karen Weston 
Chief Executive 
30 September 2020 
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Our strategic framework

The Department of 
Education’s ‘Strategic 
Framework 2018–2022’ 
sets our direction, with 
the ‘Education NT Strategy 
2018–22’ as its centrepiece. 
This strategy guides how 
we provide high-quality 
education and early 
childhood services to an 
explicit improvement agenda. 
The framework outlines our 
commitment to a strong 
public education system that 
ensures equity and gives 
every child the opportunity 
to engage, grow and achieve.

Our 
commitment

We are committed to a strong public education system that 
ensures equity and gives every child the opportunity to engage, 
grow and achieve. 

Our ambition Every child in the NT has the best start in life and, through  
early learning and school education, gains a bright future. 

Our culture Our culture guides how we approach our work and underpins 
the ‘Strategic Framework 2018–2022’:

• we value working together to achieve our common purpose

• we celebrate success and share feedback to help each other 
learn and improve

• we value our people, especially the positive impact they  
have on the lives of children and students

• we take an holistic approach in supporting children and 
students who are central to our collective work

• we value diversity and the benefit different perspectives  
and experiences bring to our work.

Our strategic  
focus areas

The ‘Education NT Strategy 2018–22’ commits to a  
strong public education system that gives every child the 
opportunity to:

• Engage – by increasing the number of children and students 
engaged in education from birth to Year 12 and maximising 
their participation

• Grow – ensuring every student achieves at least one year of 
growth for one year of education 

• Achieve – ensuring students leave school with options 
available to achieve their ambitions.

The strategy prioritises improvement through five focus areas: 

• School Leadership – leaders lift performance 

• Quality Teaching – children and students engage in learning 

• Differentiated Support – tailored, evidence-based strategies 
to support our schools 

• Community Engagement – strong partnerships with 
children, students, families, the community and industry  
to inform our decisions 

• Data and Accountability – systems inform and  
improve practice.

The strategic framework and Education NT Strategy are 
available online at www.education.nt.gov.au
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*includes preschool, primary,  
middle and senior years’ students.

Notes:   Student enrolment data and the number of 
schools are based on the 2019 Age Grade 
Census data. In January 2020, another 
school opened. This is not included in the 
data above. 

Our operating context

Education and early 
childhood services in the 
Territory is provided across 
a vast and diverse context. 
Students, young children 
and their families are 
geographically dispersed 
across the 1.35 million km2  
of the Territory.

DARWIN
29 schools with 11 837 students

78 early childhood education  
and care services

PALMERSTON  
AND RURAL

32 schools with 8 834 students

70 early childhood education  
and care services

ARNHEM
16 schools with 
3 599 students

16 early childhood  
education and  
care services

KATHERINE
26 schools with 3 688 students

21 early childhood education  
and care services

BARKLY
18 schools with 
1 508 students 

4 early childhood education 
and care services

ALICE SPRINGS
32 schools with 4 410 students

33 early childhood education 
and care services

We supported  
Quality Education  

and Care NT in regulating 
222 early childhood 

education and  
care services

84% of  
non-Aboriginal and 
32% of Aboriginal 

students attended school 
four days or more  

per week

We provided  
education services to  
33 876 students* 

across 153 government  
schools

We 
supported the 

Registrar of  
Non-Government Schools 

in regulating 38  
non-government schools 

servicing 10 664 
students

Our diverse 
student population 
includes 14 534 

Aboriginal students, and 
49% of all students have 

a language background 
other than English

71% of Northern 
Territory government 
schools are located in 

remote and very remote 
areas, with 43% of our 

students enrolled at 
these schools

Figure 1: Our context at a glance
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Changes during 2019–20

Centralisation of corporate services
Under the Northern Territory Government budget repair 
measures, the functions of human resources, digital and data 
services, procurement, fleet, web services and infrastructure 
transferred from all Northern Territory departments to central 
agencies: the Department of Corporate and Information Services 
and the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics. 
Both staff and budgets transitioned in this centralisation. This is 
reflected in the ‘Our organisation, workforce and governance’  
and ‘Our financial performance’ chapters. 

COVID-19 pandemic
To respond to the outbreak of COVID-19 in Australia in early 
2020, the department’s Emergency Management Committee 
established the Emergency Management Taskforce to manage the 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Northern Territory’s 
education community in March 2020. 

The department worked with the Department of Health to 
develop and implement a comprehensive pandemic action 
plan, including plans for each school and regional office. The 
department’s response to COVID-19 was informed by four 
strategic principles:

• The health, safety and wellbeing of staff, clients and the 
community will be prioritised.

• All decision making will be based on expert advice from the 
Public Health Directorate.

• Continued service delivery will be prioritised wherever 
possible, with a focus on critical services.

• The response will be proportionate, flexible and scalable.

Across the Northern Territory, changes arising from COVID-19 
meant schools and families needed to work together in 
different ways. This ensured students could keep learning while 
maintaining health and safety. Many students stayed home in 
Week 11, Term 1, 2020 to give schools and educators time to 
prepare for a range of learning options. After the mid-semester 
break and based on advice from the NT Chief Health Officer, 
students returned to their classrooms for Term 2, 2020. 

To support schools and early childhood services, the department:

• delivered a central portal, eLearn, through which educators 
accessed resources to support online learning, blended 
delivery or face-to-face instruction 

• provided four extra professional development days at the end 
of Term 1, 2020 for educators to prepare to support students 
learning from home if it was required 

• produced and distributed hard-copy learning materials to 
every government and non-government student in Transition 
to Year 10 across the Northern Territory to learn at home 
if required, as well as materials and guidance for preschool 
students and parents and carers as part of the ‘Families as First 
Teachers’ program

• provided online support for families through its new ‘Learning 
Together’ website

• hosted weekly briefing and updates with all principals across 
the NT and the early childhood education and care sector

• helped 924 boarding students return home to their local 
communities and supported their continued learning, including 
working with the Commonwealth Government national data 
sets to ensure all students undertaking schooling outside of  
the Northern Territory could be supported to return home

• developed operating guidelines for schools and early  
childhood education and care services to ensure the safety  
and wellbeing of staff, students and families while schools  
and centres stayed open

• arranged extra cleaning and hygiene supplies and services in  
all schools and workplaces

• set up a 24-hour enquiry line and regular information sessions 
for approved early childhood education and care services and 
their families

• financially supported 88 early childhood education and care 
services through the ‘NT Early Childhood Education and Care 
COVID-19 Special Assistance Grant’

• intensively case managed 48 early childhood education and 
care services and 23 approved providers identified at risk of 
potential closure

• extended contractual commitments with recipients of the 
‘Community-based Special Education Program Grant’ who 
were still able to operate during COVID-19 restrictions to 
ensure services for students with special needs continued.

To support staff in remote locations across the Northern Territory, 
including biosecurity zones, the department:

• logistically supported more than 4400 essential hygiene, 
cleaning, food and other essential items being delivered to  
staff working in remote locations affected by biosecurity  
travel restrictions

• launched a ‘Remote Community Schools Package’ to incentivise 
employees to stay in their remote communities during the 
mid-semester break. It included a $500 retention payment, 
retention of unused flights out of isolated localities and an 
extra day of leave to conduct personal business. This supported 
991 employees in remote communities.

To support all staff, the department:

• established working-from-home arrangements for  
required staff, with advice from the Commissioner for  
Public Employment

• expanded existing counselling services to support employees’ 
mental wellbeing. 

Initiatives were funded from the existing budget, providing: 

• $0.79 million to support students to learn from home 

• $0.19 million in logistical support to ensure essential supplies 

• $0.53 million for the ‘Remote Community Schools Package’

• $3.03 million in grants to help schools with the cost of extra 
and specialist cleaning services 

• $0.45 million to support the continued learning of  
boarding students 

• $0.36 million to support early childhood education and care 
service providers.

See ‘Impact of COVID-19’ on page 42 of the financial statements 
for a full list of the department’s policy and activity decisions.
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The 2019–20 Northern 
Territory Budget Paper 3 
(BP3) identified emerging or 
strategic management issues 
the department reports against, 
aligned to government’s 
strategic priorities of delivering 
generational change, creating  
a safer Territory, investing in the 
bush and creating local jobs.  
The department also supported 
the Northern Territory 
Government commitment to 
budget repair. Achievements in 
progress towards these strategic 
priorities are outlined below. 
Performance against the BP3 
objectives and indicators is 
reported from page 16 onwards. 

Achievements

Delivering generational change 

Alongside other jurisdictions and the Commonwealth Government, the department 
contributed to both the Education Council’s review of the ‘Melbourne Declaration on 
Educational Goals for Young Australians’ and the development of the new ‘Alice Springs 
(Mparntwe) Education Declaration’. The Mparntwe Declaration was committed to by 
all Australian education ministers in Alice Springs in December 2019. The Mparntwe 
Declaration is a commitment to excellence and equity in education and places students 
at the centre of their education. It emphasises the importance of meeting the individual 
needs of all learners, and it outlines education’s role in supporting students’ wellbeing, 
mental health and resilience. The declaration also recognises the early years are a period 
of rapid growth and development and acknowledges the need to strengthen early 
childhood education to support children to develop and flourish. The declaration guides 
the work of the department in delivering generational change.

Early years
The department continued to engage children and their families in programs and services 
to improve their health, wellbeing and preparedness for schooling. In 2019–20, we 
achieved this by:

• establishing eight new ‘Families as First Teachers’ program sites at Braitling, Belyuen, 
Peppimenarti, Walungurru (Kintore), Epenarra, Mamaruni, Robinson River and 
Canteen Creek, taking the total to 50 program sites. Participation in the program 
increased from 1890 in Semester 1, 2019 to 1979 in Semester 1, 2020

• delivering the ‘Literacy for Parents – Strong Young Parents’ program, which expanded 
to a total of five sites, engaging 72 young parents or guardians

• extending funding for the ‘Connected Beginnings’ program until 2022, integrating 
early childhood, maternal and child health, and family support services in Tennant 
Creek, Galiwin’ku, Alice Springs and Angurugu

• delivering integrated early years services through child and family centres. As part 
of the Northern Territory ‘Starting Early for a Better Future’ – Early Childhood 
Development Plan 2018-2018’, the department worked in collaboration with the 
Northern Territory Government’s Reform Management Committee to establish two 
new centres in Tennant Creek and Katherine, taking the total number in operation  
to eight. Work will continue to establish an additional nine new centres over the next 
two years.

We supported Quality Education and Care NT, the independent regulator of early 
childhood and care services, to ensure Territory children have access to quality early 
childhood education and care programs. In 2019–20:

• 76 per cent of the 222 approved service, across the Northern Territory were rated as 
meeting or exceeding the National Quality Standard, an increase of five percentage 
points compared to last year

• more than 210 compliance visits were conducted across services

• a new self-assessment tool was implemented for services to improve their overall 
compliance through regular internal assessment and review. 
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During the year, 3187 children participated in preschool 
programs across 121 Northern Territory government schools, 
and the Northern Territory Preschool Curriculum was delivered 
in preschool, long day care and family day care services.

Contemporary curriculum
The Australian Curriculum continued to be taught across all 
Northern Territory government schools from Transition to 
Year 10. The South Australian Certificate of Education (SACE) 
Curriculum was taught in Years 11 to 12 for students undertaking 
the Northern Territory Certificate of Education and Training. 

A range of programs were delivered alongside the curriculum: 

• the ‘Indigenous Languages and Culture Curriculum’, supporting 
the teaching and learning of 25 Aboriginal languages and 
cultures and achievement standards for six different language 
pathways. At Semester 1, 2020, 1 771 students were enrolled 
in the program across 32 schools

• bilingual education programs in nine schools, with customised 
programs delivered to each school/community in nine 
Aboriginal languages to support learning of English and all areas 
of the Australian Curriculum through students’ first language

• the ‘Literacy and Numeracy Essentials’ (LaNE) approach, 
providing an explicit teaching model of literacy and numeracy 
to support learners with English as a second language or 
dialect. LaNE was used in 96 schools—an increase of 56 schools 
since it was launched in 2017

• the ‘Ability Based Learning and Education Support’ program for 
students with additional needs and/or disability

• online and distance education services to 841 students through 
the Katherine School of the Air, Alice Springs School of the Air 
and the Northern Territory School of Distance Education.

Student wellbeing and inclusion
The department’s ‘Framework for Inclusion 2019–2029’ 
recognises that any learner may need additional support at 
some stage in their education. It promotes an environment 
in government schools that is inclusive, fair and focussed on 
delivering learning and supporting wellbeing to meet individual 
students’ needs. Under the framework in 2019–20:

• the department provided $1.15 million to 19 schools as part 
of the ‘Building Collaborative Capacity Program’ to build 
educators’ capacity and capability in inclusive education 
practices across mainstream schools

• infrastructure works commenced at 43 schools as part of 
the $5.2 million ‘Building for Inclusion Program’ to improve 
facilities for students with additional needs

• we helped 75 remote schools make classroom adjustments for 
the 2 449 students diagnosed with a hearing or ear health issue

• professional learning was delivered to 448 educators across 
132 government and non-government schools on the 
Nationally Consistent Collection of Data on Students with 
Disability and processes, which enables improved supports to 
be put in place for students with a disability. 

Across the NT, other programs to improve student wellbeing and 
inclusion included:

• autism spectrum intervention programs for primary-aged 
children in Darwin, Palmerston, Alice Springs and Katherine

• support services for students with a disability to transition 
from school to appropriate post-school pathways

• the School-Based Police Program in 10 schools (school-based 
police officers were redeployed in April 2020 due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic)

• school counselling services across 152 government schools

• the National School Chaplaincy Program in 23 government and 
non-government schools

• positive learning centres in Darwin, Alice Springs, Katherine 
and Tennant Creek to support schools to manage students 
with challenging behaviours. 

Senior years education and pathways to jobs 
A range of senior years programs were delivered across the NT to 
strengthen student engagement in their final years of schooling, 
and give them the skills and knowledge they need for further 
study or work. 

The department provided:

• the Northern Territory Certificate of Education and Training 
(NTCET), using the SACE Curriculum. A total of 1 454 students 
completed the NTCET—the highest completion number ever 
recorded. Of this cohort, 933 students studied in government 
schools and 227 identified as being Aboriginal. Northern 
Territory young people also achieved certification while 
studying in other jurisdictions.

• vocational education and training (VET) programs to a 
total of 1 583 students, of which 743 students completed a 
qualification in Certificate I, II or III 

• school-based apprenticeships and/or traineeships to  
132 students 

• the ‘Employment Pathways’ program, with 537 students 
across 32 remote and very remote schools participating in this 
vocational-based secondary education program

• the Interim Training Centre at East Arm, which gives students 
who have disengaged from school vocational training 
opportunities and an avenue to re-engage with education and 
learn skills in industries such as automotive and engineering

• training through its own registered training organisation to 
163 students from seven urban, nine remote and four very 
remote schools, including nine qualification completions and 
154 statements of attainment across 14 skill sets

• 18 trade training centres across the Northern Territory, where 
students had access to 38 qualifications. 

The Transition Support Unit helped 335 students and their 
families considering boarding as an option with their transition to 
secondary education. It also continued to support 756 students 
doing their senior secondary schooling at a boarding facility.

International education
International education programs and partnerships continued  
to provide economic, social and cultural benefits to the  
Northern Territory last year despite the disruption caused by 
COVID-19. At year end, there were 68 fee-paying international 
students enrolled in government schools and 64 enrolled in  
non-government schools. 

Before study tours were cancelled or put on hold, 19 students 
from Guangdong province, China, participated in a study tour 
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hosted by Larrakeyah Primary School, and two students from  
Italy joined a four-week study abroad program at Darwin High 
School in August 2019. The ‘Framework for Cooperation’ was 
signed with Shenzhen Education Bureau to develop mutually 
beneficial education activities, exchange and programs. Ten 
delegates from schools and universities in Anhui province, China, 
participated in the three-day ‘Education in Diversity’ education 
leaders’ forum in November 2019, including visits to Nhulunbuy 
and Yirrkala schools. 

Investing in the bush 

Local decision-making about the design and delivery of education, 
student engagement and early childhood services in remote 
communities continued to be a priority for the department.

The Community-led Schools initiative continued to be 
implemented, which encourages Aboriginal people’s active 
engagement in making decisions about their children’s learning. 
In 2019–20, 10 remote schools were on a community-led school 
pathway, 17 local engagement and decision-making (LEaD) 
committees were established in remote schools, and 78 schools 
engaged in the LEaD process. 

A range of place-based and program-specific partnerships were 
established. These included:

• The development of the agreed Groote Archipelago Local 
Decision Making Agreement Implementation Plan for 
Education signed by all parties on 30 April 2020. Core  
elements of the Education Implementation Plan are 
establishing community-led governance across the Groote 
Archipelago community schools, prioritising early childhood 
development and education, developing a bilingual curriculum 
for the Groote Archipelago and local teacher training.

• The new integrated child and family centres in Tennant Creek, 
operated by the Julalikari Council Aboriginal Corporation, and 
in Katherine, operated by Kalano Community Association.

Creating a safer Territory 

Engagement in learning and supporting vulnerable and  
at-risk students to engage in education creates a safer  
Territory. The department’s engagement officers worked with 
1 367 students and their families to re-engage them with their 
school communities and re-establish their attendance to school.

As well as school-based interventions and place-based initiatives, 
the department delivered a range of early intervention,  
re-engagement and alternative education programs through: 

• the Top End School of Flexible Learning’s alternative education 
programs. Twenty-two students enrolled at the Palmerston 
re-engagement campus, 45 in Malak and 18 at the Tivendale 
School in the Don Dale Youth Detention Centre

• Court liaison officers in Alice Springs and Darwin who work 
with other NT Government departments and partners to 
ensure a plan is in place for young people leaving youth 
detention centres to support their re-engagement back into 
community and school

• the ‘Healthy Life, Creative Life’ program. A total of  
759 students from remote schools in the Barkly region 
participated at Juno Training Centre in Tennant Creek and  
27 at the Katherine Flexible Learning and Engagement Centre.

Creating local jobs 

Supporting local business, the ‘Building Better Schools’ program 
delivered new school facilities at 30 schools, bringing the total 
number of government schools with work done through the 
program to 72. 

Major infrastructure projects completed included building a 
new primary school at Zuccoli, which opened in Term 1, 2020. 
Significant upgrades were finalised at Darwin Middle School, 
Acacia Hill School and Centralian Middle School. Refurbishment 
and upgrades at homeland learning centres in Manmoyi, 
Mamadawerre and Murrunga were also completed.  
See ‘Appendix 1 – Infrastructure activities’ for more on 
infrastructure projects. 

The department continued to build the capacity of our 
local workforce during the year. With a focus on Aboriginal 
employment, we had significant success in building a local 
workforce to run early years programs and services. See the  
‘Our workforce’ section for more information. 

Budget repair measures 

The NT Government implemented budget repair measures during 
2019–20 as part of its fiscal strategy to return the Northern 
Territory’s budget to balance. In line with this direction, the 
department completed the following budget repair measures:

• updated indexation rates for grant recipients to reflect 
efficiency dividends

• reduced school resourcing indexation from 2.5 per cent to  
1.5 per cent to align with whole-of-government indexation 
rates, resulting in $1.29 million in savings from 2020, with  
no adverse effect on schools or students

• identified ongoing savings by changing the provision of  
head-leasing housing to employees in Katherine, which is 
expected to save $0.5 million per year once fully implemented

• developed a new non-government school funding model in 
consultation with the sector that is transparent, sustainable, 
equitable, needs-based and easy for schools to understand. 

Another measure was identified to on-charge costs for 
information and communications technology (ICT) services to 
non-government schools. This was deferred until 2021 due to the 
impact COVID-19 has had on the sector. 
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Education NT Strategy 2018–2022
The department delivered against 10 actions under focus areas of School Leadership, Quality Teaching, Differentiated Support for 
Schools, Community Engagement and Data and Accountability. Our achievements in progress towards these actions are outlined below. 
Performance against objectives and indicators is reported from page 16.

FOCUS AREA & ACTIONS ACHIEVEMENTS, 2019–20

School Leadership

• Build distributive and  
adaptive leadership 
capability.

• Develop pathways to attract 
and grow future leaders.

The ‘Leadership for School Improvement Program’ started in 2020 in partnership with the 
Queensland Education Leadership Institute. Twenty-three emerging school leaders participated in  
the program, which included establishing one-on-one mentoring with experienced school leaders.  
The ‘Collaborative Impact Program’ continued to be delivered in partnership with Cognition, 
Education Changemakers and Incept Labs, further growing leadership across NT schools and giving 
school staff the chance to work towards improving teaching and learning practices. 

In 2019, the Principal Orientation Program was redeveloped, with a focus on supporting and 
developing leaders newly appointed to NT schools. This included all 31 new principals to positions  
at the start of 2020 participating in one-on-one executive coaching.

Eleven teachers from government schools achieved a national Highly Accomplished and Lead Teacher 
certification, recognising their growth, development and abilities in improving student outcomes. 

See the ‘Our organisation, workforce and governance’ section for more information on programs and 
participant numbers.

Quality Teaching

• Establish a system of  
coaching and mentoring to 
build teacher and school 
leader capability.

• Support schools to  
effectively attract, retain  
and manage their staff.

To increase the benefit of mentoring and coaching in the department, we focussed on understanding 
and applying the National School Improvement Tool (NSIT). This tool supports teachers and school 
leaders to identify areas for improvement and drive student and school improvement outcomes. 
Professional learning on using the NSIT was provided to 93 school leaders, and accredited training 
was run for 62 school and system leaders. 

We delivered initiatives under the ‘Teacher Attraction and Retention Strategy’ to attract teachers  
to Territory schools from inside and outside the Territory. Actions under the Teacher Permanency 
Strategy were extended in 2019–20, giving schools a streamlined process to appoint existing  
teachers to permanent positions. Since the strategy was launched in October 2017, 503 teachers  
have been made permanent. We also delivered a range of programs to support the development  
and retention of staff, with a particular focus on our Aboriginal employees. 

See the ‘Our organisation, workforce and governance’ section for more information on  
these programs.

Differentiated Support  
for Schools

• Develop and implement 
a school improvement 
methodology and service 
delivery model.

• Target investment to the 
right support for schools.

In 2019, we supported schools across the NT in their school improvement planning by establishing  
our ‘Signature Strategies’. Derived from evidence, these are high-impact strategies that school  
leaders can identify during their school review and planning process. Each strategy is supported by  
an implementation guide.

Identifying Signature Strategies in schools’ 2020 annual improvement plans is enabling the 
department to align our service delivery model and investment in resources with schools’ needs 
for the coming year. The planning process also identified networks of schools implementing similar 
strategies and actions, which allowed them to collaborate and share resources. 

Community Engagement

• Empower communities to 
be more involved in the 
education of their children.

• Implement the Community-
Led Schools initiative.

Noting the information in the ‘Our performance’ section to achieve the strategic intent of this action,  
the Community-led Schools initiative continued be implemented, and actions started as part of the  
nine-year Groote Archipelago Local Decision Making Agreement.

Data and Accountability

• Develop and implement 
quality standards for school 
and system performance.

• Target investment in 
technologies to drive  
data-informed decision 
making from the classroom 
to the boardroom.

An NT Standards of Evidence approach was developed and launched to assess both qualitative and 
quantitative information to guide system and school planning, implementation and evaluation. In 
partnership with the Australian Council for Educational Research, the department introduced the 
‘Education System Improvement Tool’, an evidence-based framework to assess system performance  
and improvement.

The department continued to target investment in key actions under the ‘Accelerate – Education  
for all with technology and information 2019–2022 Strategy’. This included further developing the 
eDash system and new school and system improvement dashboards that bring together data to 
inform decision making.
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Key indicators of success

In 2019, student enrolments increased in government schools, compared to 2018. This was 467 for all students and 325 for  
Aboriginal students. 

Student performance in the 2019 National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy (NAPLAN) results indicated improvements  
in a number of measures for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal students since 2015.

The Northern Territory saw a record 1 454 students complete their NTCET in 2019, an increase of 79 students compared to 2018.  
Of these, 933 students studied in Northern Territory government schools, an increase of 18. More Aboriginal students completed  
their NTCET in 2019 than ever before, with 227 receiving certificates. Overall, 98 per cent of Year 12 government school students  
who attempted their NTCET in 2019, completed the qualification.

The department’s progress is reported under the objectives, outputs and indicators published in the 2019–20 Budget Paper. No 3  
as shown in the following tables. 

Early years performance 

Table 1: Subsidised early childhood places

Indicator 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20
Subsidised early childhood places1, 2 5 419 4 944 5 503 5 697 5 751

Sources: Department of Education data and 2015–16, 2016–17, 2017–18 and 2018–19 Budget Paper No. 3.

Notes:  1. Includes approved long day care and family day care places, excluding remote services funded by the Commonwealth. 

 2. The variations are due to increased capacity in a number of approved early childhood centres.

Table 2: Preschool education in government schools 

Indicators 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20
Total preschool student enrolments1 3 370 3 396 3 321 3 169 3 198

Aboriginal preschool student enrolments 1 305 1 302 1 326 1 148 1 253

Total preschool attendance rates2  

— non-Aboriginal 87% 87% 88% 88% 87%

— Aboriginal 60% 59% 57% 61% 55%

Sources: Department of Education data and 2015–16, 2016–17, 2017–18 and 2018–19 Budget Paper No. 3.

Notes:  1. Enrolment numbers are from the Age Grade Census taken in August each year.

 2. Attendance rates are calculated across the year. 
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Government schools’ performance

Table 3: Enrolment and attendance in government schools 

Indicators 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20 
Total primary, middle and senior student enrolments1, 2 29 359 29 914 30 829 30 240 30 678

Aboriginal primary, middle and senior student enrolments1, 2 13 241 13 306 13 706 13 061 13 281

Primary, middle and senior attendance rates

— Non-Aboriginal 90% 89% 88% 88% 88%

— Aboriginal 68% 67% 65% 64% 63%

Primary, middle and senior students attending at least four or more days per week

— Non-Aboriginal 88% 86% 84% 84% 84%

— Aboriginal 36% 36% 33% 33% 32%

Sources: Department of Education data and 2015–16, 2016–17, 2017–18 and 2018–19 Budget Paper No. 3.

Notes:  1. Enrolment numbers are from the Age Grade Census taken in August each year.

 2. Attendance rates are calculated across the year.

Table 4: NAPLAN students achieving national minimum standard in government schools 

2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20
Students achieving at or above minimum standard in NAPLAN1,2

Reading — non-Aboriginal students
Year 3 89% 92% 90% 92% 92%

Year 5 89% 90% 93% 92% 92%

Year 7 93% 89% 88% 91% 93%

Year 9 89% 88% 87% 90% 85%

Reading — Aboriginal students
Year 3 44% 48% 48% 50% 56%

Year 5 48% 31% 42% 45% 41%

Year 7 55% 40% 35% 42% 43%

Year 9 33% 41% 39% 37% 42%

Numeracy — non-Aboriginal students
Year 3 93% 94% 93% 95% 92%

Year 5 93% 92% 95% 96% 93%

Year 7 94% 93% 93% 95% 93%

Year 9 93% 93% 94% 94% 94%

Numeracy — Aboriginal students
Year 3 53% 56% 54% 63% 55%

Year 5 53% 46% 48% 51% 50%

Year 7 61% 50% 58% 56% 48%

Year 9 61% 52% 72% 61% 67%

Sources:  Department of Education data provided by the Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority (ACARA).

Notes:  1.  Where test cohorts of students are smaller, for example Year 9 Aboriginal students, results year to year may be volatile but not be statistically  
significantly different. 

 2.  NAPLAN results attributed to financial years are from tests completed in May of the previous financial year.
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Table 5: Senior years education in government schools

Indicators 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20
NTCET completion rate1 - - - 94% 98%

Aboriginal students’ completion rate1 - - - 92% 98%

Students who achieved one or more VET competencies2 1 019 1 379 1 576 1 536 1 583

Students who completed a  
certificate I, II, III or IV qualification3

730 931 679 763 743

Students enrolled in school-based  
apprenticeships or traineeships

87 84 86 113 132

Sources:  2015–16, 2016–17, 2017–18 and 2018–19 Budget Paper No. 3; Schools Online (number of NTCET completions) and Age Grade Census (Year 12 enrolments).

Notes: 1.  In 2019–20, this indicator measures the students who completed the NTCET as a proportion of Year 12 students who, based on their enrolments, were 
attempting to complete the NTCET. Prior to 2019–20, this measure was the number of students who attained an NTCET.

 2.  From 2016–17 onwards, data includes additional registered training organisations compared to previous years.

 3. Prior to 2017–18, this indicator did not include Certificate IV qualifications.

Non-government schools’ performance

Table 6: Primary, middle and senior years education in non-government schools

Indicators 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20
Total primary, middle and senior student enrolments1 11 662 11 602 11 247 10 918 10 664

Aboriginal primary, middle and

senior student enrolments1 3 353 3 259 3 221 3 028 2 894

Attendance rates:2

– non-Aboriginal students3 - - 92% 92% 91%

– Aboriginal students 70% 66% 64% 63% 61%

NTCET completion rate4 - - - 98% 98%

Aboriginal students’ completion rate4 - - - 95% 98%

Students who achieved one or more VET competencies 678 795 763 760 711

Students who completed a Certificate I, II, III  
or IV qualification5 

357 394 306 413 379

Students enrolled in school-based apprenticeships  
or traineeships

70 65 35 34 38

Sources: Department of Education data and 2015–16, 2016–17, 2017–18 and 2018–19 Budget Paper No. 3.

Notes: 1. Enrolment numbers are from the Age Grade Census taken in August each year.

 2. Attendance rates are calculated across the year.

 3. Non-Aboriginal was a new measure in 2017–18. This was reported as all students in previous years.

 4.  In 2019–20, this indicator measures the students who completed the NTCET as a proportion of Year 12 students who, based on their enrolments,  
were attempting to complete the NTCET. Prior to 2019–20, this measure was the number of students who attained an NTCET.

 5. Prior to 2017–18, this indicator did not include Certificate IV qualifications.

International education

Table 7: International education 

Indicators 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20 
Full fee-paying international students in  
NT government schools

47 55 55 531 68

Full fee-paying international students in  
NT non-government schools

81 85 85 87 64

Source:  Department of Education data and 2015–16, 2016–17, 2017–18 and 2018–19 Budget Paper No. 3. Providers’ Registration for International Students 
Management System.

Notes: 1.  An administrative counting error meant the number published in 2018–19 Budget Paper No. 3 was incorrect.  
The reported number for 2018–19 was 76.
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Our organisation

Our organisation structure was functionally aligned to support delivery of the ‘Education NT Strategy 2018–22’ and the education  
and early childhood services the department delivers. This included transferring corporate services to One NTG partners  
(the Department of Corporate and Information Services and the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics). 

Figure 2: Our organisational structure as at 30 June 2020
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1. Department of Corporate and Information Services – Procurement; Digital; Human Resources; Web; Data, Fleet; Information Management

2.  Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics – Infrastructure Planning and Operations; Infrastructure Project Development; Infrastructure Project Management; 
Asset Management
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The department employed 4 588 people on either a full-time 
or part-time basis during the year. That equated to a full-time 
equivalent (FTE) staffing profile of 4 358. 

• 3 865 (88 per cent) were school-based employees 

• 1 638 (38 per cent) were in remote workplaces 

• 656 (14.3 per cent) identified as being of Aboriginal heritage

• 51 identified as having a disability 

• 247 identified as being from a non-English speaking 
background

• the retention rate for all staff increased slightly from  
85.4 per cent in 2018–19 to 89.4 per cent in 2019–20

 – non-school based staff retention decreased from  
82.6 per cent to 74.7 per cent

 – school-based staff retention increased from 85.8 per cent  
to 91.5 per cent.

Last year’s retention rate of 74.7 per cent was affected by 
corporate services staff transfers to the Department of Corporate 
and Information Services and Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics as part of the whole-of-government 
corporate services reform.

A detailed workforce profile is at Appendix 2. 

Aboriginal workforce 

At June 2020, there were 656 Aboriginal employees across  
the department. This is 14.3 per cent of all staff and is above  
the NT Public Sector average of 11 per cent. 

Our Aboriginal employees work across all levels and programs 
in education services, early childhood settings and corporate 
support divisions. Our largest cohort work in the administrative 
officer and assistant teacher roles, making up 70.4 per cent of our 
Aboriginal workforce.

At year end, 55 Aboriginal employees worked in senior positions: 
6.2 per cent of the department’s senior level positions.

The department continued the focus to attract, grow and develop 
our Aboriginal workforce. Initiatives were implemented under the 
‘Indigenous Employment and Workforce Strategy 2016–2020’, 
including the ‘Teaching – Growing Our Future’ Aboriginal Teacher 
Education Scholarship. This scholarship financially supports 
Aboriginal people living in the Territory and who are enrolled in, or 
eligible to enrol in, a Bachelor of Education or Master of Teaching 
at a NT tertiary institution.

The ‘Remote Aboriginal Teacher Education in the Territory’ 
program was re-established, to provide employment pathways  
for remote residents to pursue a career in school teaching or  
early childhood care.
 

Figure 3: Aboriginal employees
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Investing in our people

We are committed to creating a safe, inclusive and rewarding 
workplace that attracts and retains quality staff. We recognise 
the valuable contribution our people make to achieving improved 
student outcomes and continue to invest in initiatives that attract 
and retain staff and build their capacity. 

We invested $3.61 million in structured training and development 
last year, which equates to an average spend of $828 per  
FTE employee. 

In line with requirements under section 28 of the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act 1993, the tables below 
summarise training and staff development across the department.

Table 8: Leadership programs 

Program Target audience
Number of 
participants Program aims

The Leadership for 
School Improvement 
Program 

Emerging principals 
and existing 
principals 

46 The program provided high-potential future leaders with structured 
support and development and enhanced their leadership capabilities. 

Harvard Leadership 
for School Excellence 
Program 

Principals 9 The program explored evidence-based techniques and best practices 
to assist principals in developing a leadership plan tailored to their 
individual school settings. 

Collaborative  
Impact Program 

School leaders  
and teachers

100 The program is a Northern Territory specific, comprehensive training 
program designed to build the capability of its educators, school leaders 
and system leaders. 

Professional Growth 
Training

All 47 The training assisted leaders to understand performance management 
in the Northern Territory Public Sector and to constructively address 
performance in the workplace. 

Annual Leaders’ 
Conference

School and  
system leaders

181 The conference shared knowledge of the latest trends and ideas in 
education and opportunities to strengthen networks with other leaders. 

Response and 
Recovery Coaching

School and  
system leaders

26 One-on-one coaching for leaders to improve wellbeing and capacity to 
manage themselves and others during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Source: Department of Education data.

Table 9: Assistant teachers enrolled in  
accredited training 

Course
Number of 

participants 
Certificate III in Education Support 32

Certificate IV in Education Support 31

Diploma of Education Support 10

Advanced Diploma of Education 8

Other accredited training 133

Source: Department of Education data.

 
Table 10: Scholarships and early careers programs 

Program
Number of 

participants 
Teaching – Growing Our Future, Aboriginal 
Teacher Education Scholarship

36

Early Childhood Teaching Scholarship 9

Workplace Integrated Learning Scholarship 12

Teacher Scholarship – Supporting NT Students 
with Additional Needs 

17

Graduate Certificate of Teaching English to 
Speakers of Other Languages

17

NT Government traineeships and  
Aboriginal traineeships

241

School-based apprenticeships/traineeships 322

Vacation Employment Program 4

Graduate Development Program 7

Source: Department of Education data.

Notes: 1. 18 participants identified as Aboriginal. 

 2. 24 participants identified as Aboriginal.  
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Our commitment to maintaining safe learning and work 
environments is underpinned by safety management  
processes, including policies and guidelines that comply with  
the NT Work Health and Safety (Uniform National Legislation)  
Act 2011 and the Public Sector Employment and Management  
Act 1993. In 2019–20, the department delivered this through:

• delivering the SAFE campaign and training program to help 
staff understand their safety responsibilities and to encourage 
the reporting of all incidents

• releasing the ‘Education NT Teacher Wellbeing Strategy 
2019–22’, which included actions based on findings from the 
2019 ‘NT Teachers Occupational Health and Wellbeing Survey’

• continuing counselling services available through employee 
assistance programs, including for employees’ spouses/
partners and dependants

• developing COVID-19 pandemic plans across the department 
to minimise the adverse health impacts of the pandemic and 
protect our staff and students

• administering free flu vaccinations to 2 745 staff.

A total of 672 work health and safety incidents were reported in 
2019–20, an increase of 83 on the previous year. The department 
continues to work with all staff to minimise the number of 
incidents through internal workplace hazard inspections, safety 
audit programs, risk assessments and process improvements.

Providing a safe and  
healthy workplace

Being hit by moving objects

Chemicals and other substances

Heat, electricity and other environmental factors

Mental stress

Body stressing

Falls, slips and trips of a person

Hitting objects with a part of the body

Vehicle incidents and other

369

70

22

6 7

54

104

40

Figure 4: Reported work health and 
safety incidents by category 2019–20
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Our governance 

The department is led by the 
Chief Executive, who reports to 
the Minister for Education.

Education Executive Board

The department is managed by the Education Executive Board, chaired by the  
Chief Executive. The board oversaw whole-of-department matters, prioritising 
departmental resources and monitoring performance. The board comprised the  
heads of the department’s six divisions and representation from the School  
Improvement and Leadership, and Finance divisions. 

Membership as at 30 June 2020 was: 

• Ms Karen Weston – Chief Executive

• Ms Leanne Nixon – Deputy Chief Executive, Education NT

• Mr John Cleary – General Manager, School and System Improvement

• Ms Susan Bowden – Executive Director, Early Years and Education Services

• Mr Tony Considine – General Manager, Engagement and Partnerships

• Ms Jasmin Aldenhoven – Executive Director, Agency Operations

• Ms Gillian Sharkey – Acting General Manager, Strategic Services

• Mr Brett Roach – Chief Financial Officer

• Ms Kerry Hudson – Acting Executive Director, School Improvement and  
Leadership North

• Mr Richard Hunt – Acting Executive Director, School Improvement and  
Leadership South

• Ms Aderyn Chatterton – Acting Executive Director, Office of the Deputy  
Chief Executive.

Subcommittee structure

Seven subcommittees report to the Education Executive Board:

• Resource and Asset Management Subcommittee

• Procurement Review Subcommittee

• Information Management Subcommittee

• Research Subcommittee

• Operational Policy Subcommittee

• Safety Management Subcommittee

• Emergency Management Subcommittee. 
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Other governance groups

The Audit and Risk Committee reports to the Chief Executive and 
provides advice to the Education Executive Board. 

A review of governance arrangements was conducted in  
October 2019, and an interim governance arrangement put 
in place from November 2019. In this interim arrangement, a 
number of working groups continued to progress actions from the 
‘Education NT Strategy 2018–22’ and also reported to Education 
Executive Board:

• School Resourcing Model Action Plan Working Group

• Improvement Systems, Accountability and Evidence  
Working Group

• Community Engagement and Indigenous Education Strategy 
Working Group

• School Leadership and System Priorities Working Group

• Quality Teaching Working Group.

The ICT Expertise Leadership Working Group provides  
technical advice to the department’s Information  
Management Subcommittee. 

Five education reference committees provided expert and 
subject-matter advice relevant to education and early childhood 
services and assisted in the delivery of strategic priorities under 
the ‘Education NT Strategy 2018–22’.

Governance arrangements also include independent entities that 
provide advice to the Minister for Education and Chief Executive:

• Northern Territory Board of Studies provides advice on 
curriculum, assessment, reporting and certification. Northern 
Territory Board of Studies issues certificates of educational 
attainment and manages student awards, including the NTCET.

• Non-Government Schools Ministerial Advisory Council 
provides policy advice on the registration, regulation and 
standards of non-government schools.

The department is also an active contributor to the national 
education governance framework, which includes:

• Northern Territory Minister for Education membership on the 
Council of Australian Governments Education Council

• Northern Territory Department of Education Chief  
Executive membership on the Australian Education Senior 
Officials Committee.

Accountability and performance improvement

The ‘Accountability and Performance Improvement Framework’ 
ensured there were systems, tools and processes across all 
levels of the department, including schools, to meet its strategic 
direction and manage risk to delivery. 

In addition to the annual school reviews each school conducts 
internally, the department reviews each school every four years. 
In 2019–20, we reviewed 32 schools across the Territory. 

The department had in place a risk management framework, 
which clarified roles and responsibilities across the department.

The Education Executive Board monitors the Strategic Risk 
Register 2019–22 and identifies necessary risk controls. The 
Audit and Risk Committee oversees the implementation of 
risk controls and assurance activities. In line with the Financial 
Management Act 1995, the department has an internal audit 
function to assist the Accountable Officer. The Internal Audit Plan 
2019–22 is managed by the internal audit function and monitored 
by the Audit and Risk Committee.

The Auditor-General of the Northern Territory conducts audits 
on compliance procedures, practices and internal controls in 
accordance with the Audit Act 1995. 

Internal audits conducted during 2019–20 related to:

• official travel transactions, assessing compliance with  
travel policies 

• procurement practices, assessing compliance with the  
NT Government’s procurement rules and Buy Local Plan

• student records, assessing the currency and accuracy of 
records in the Student Administration Management System. 

External audits conducted during 2019–20 related to:

• a Performance Management System Audit, assessing the 
effectiveness of the department’s performance management 
system relevant to the National Assessment Program – 
Literacy and Numeracy

• a Conflicts of Interest Survey, assessing the department’s 
processes and procedures in relation to conflicts of interest

• a general Department Compliance Audit, assessing the extent 
to which the department’s systems and processes complied 
with legislated requirements.

All audits conducted by the Northern Territory Auditor-General 
found the department’s performance to be satisfactory and 
identified some improvements to strengthen internal controls  
and improve efficiency.
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Legislation administered by the department

On behalf of the Minister for Education, the department is responsible for administering the following Acts and subordinate legislation:

• Education Act 2015 and Education Regulations 2015

• Education and Care Services (National Uniform Legislation) Act 2011, including the Education and Care Services National Law and 
Education and Care Services National Regulations

• Higher Education Act 2004 and Higher Education Regulations 2006

• Teacher Registration (NT) Act 2004 and Teacher Registration (NT Regulations 2004).

Compliance with legislation and whole-of-government direction

The department complied with all prescribed principles outlined in Part 1A (sections 5A–5F) of the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act 1993. The department adhered to the Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment, 
and performance against each Employment Instruction is detailed below. 

Table 11: Department performance against Employment Instructions

Employment Instruction Performance, 2019–20
Number 1 
Filling vacancies

Chief Executive must develop a  
procedure for the filling of vacancies.

• Procedures were in place for the filling of vacancies within the department.  
These enact the whole-of-government Simplified Recruitment Policy. 

Number 2 
Probation

Chief Executive must develop a  
probation procedure.

• Probation procedures were in place.

• For non-teaching staff, whole-of-government probation procedures were followed.

• For new teachers, probation is 12 months; for teachers with at least five years of 
practice, probation period may be reduced to six months.

Number 3 
Natural justice

A person who may be adversely  
affected by an impending decision  
must be afforded natural justice  
before a final decision is made.

• The principles of natural justice were included as necessary in employment policies 
and procedures.

Number 4 
Employee performance management  
and development systems

Chief Executive must develop and 
implement an employee performance 
management and development procedure.

• A Performance Management and Development Policy was in place.  
Implementation of the policy was achieved through the performance management 
and development framework.

• In 2019–20, the staff professional growth website was updated to include an online 
professional growth training module to further support employee performance 
management and development.

Legislation
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Employment Instruction Performance, 2019–20
Number 5 
Medical examinations

Chief Executive may engage a health 
practitioner to undertake an examination 
of an employee in the case of inability, 
unsatisfactory performance or breach of 
discipline matters.

• In 2019–20, nine staff undertook a medical examination for a range of matters, 
including assessment for fitness for duty and to inform employee inability matters.

Number 6 
Employee performance and inability

Chief Executive may develop employee 
performance and inability procedures.

• Policy about employee performance and inability to discharge duties was in place.

• In 2019–20, no staff were assessed for inability under the Public Sector Employment 
and Management Act 1993. 

Number 7 
Discipline

Chief Executive may develop  
discipline procedures.

• Policy and procedure about inappropriate workplace behaviours and disciplinary 
processes was in place.

• Five discipline processes were commenced with staff in 2019–20, resulting in: 

 – one termination

 – one formal caution, which was directed to attend training or counselling 

 – three matters ongoing. 

Number 8 
Internal department complaints and 
section 59 grievance reviews

Chief Executive must develop an internal 
employee grievance-handling policy  
and procedure.

• Policy and procedure was in place for handling employee complaints.

• In 2019–20, 29 grievances were lodged with the department for internal review,  
of which:

 – 16 were internal to the department, and all matters were resolved, finalised, 
withdrawn or closed

 – 13 were lodged with the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment  
for review.

Number 9 
Employment records

Chief Executive is responsible for keeping 
employees’ records of employment.

• Employee personnel files were maintained by the Department of Corporate and 
Information Services.

• Employment records held by the department were maintained in accordance with 
the NT Government General Administrative Records Management Schedule.

Number 10 
Equality of employment  
opportunity programs

Chief Executive must develop an equality 
of employment opportunity program 
integrated with corporate, strategic and 
other department planning processes.

• Equality of employment opportunity principles were built into relevant policies and 
procedures and the department’s values of diversity, ethical practice and respect. 

• The department continued to support the application of the Special Measures  
Plan (approved by the NT Commissioner for Public Employment), giving  
priority consideration to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander applicants for  
all advertised vacancies. 

• Assistant teacher and Aboriginal education officer positions are designated roles  
for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

Number 11 
Occupational health and safety  
standards program

Chief Executive must ensure the 
application of appropriate occupational 
health and safety standards and programs, 
and report annually on these programs.

• A dedicated Safety Management Subcommittee to Education Executive Board was in 
place, ensuring application of appropriate occupational health and safety standards. 

• A range of initiatives were advanced, including: 

 – delivery of a department-wide ‘SAFE’ campaign and training program

 – improved provision of work health and safety system performance reporting.

Number 12 
Code of conduct

Chief Executive may issue a  
department-specific code of conduct.

• The department does not issue a department-specific code of conduct. 

• Employment Instruction Number 12 and the general principles in the Public  
Sector Employment and Management Act guide the department’s relevant policies  
and procedures.
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Employment Instruction Performance, 2019–20
Number 13 
Appropriate workplace behaviour

Chief Executive must develop and 
implement a department policy and 
procedure to foster appropriate workplace 
behaviour and a culture of respect, and 
to deal effectively with inappropriate 
workplace behaviour and bullying.

• Department values and culture of professionalism, respect, diversity and excellence 
inform what appropriate workplace behaviours are. 

• Policy and procedures were in place for dealing with inappropriate workplace 
behaviour, including bullying.

Number 14 
Redeployment and redundancy 
procedures

• In 2019–20, the department conducted and processed:

 – one redundancy

 – four voluntary redundancies.

Number 15 
Special measures

• The department adopted a Special Measures Plan on 1 June 2016, which provides 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people with priority consideration for  
job vacancies.

• Assistant teacher and Aboriginal education officer positions are designated roles for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people.

• In 2019–20, 347 Aboriginal employees were recruited to the department under the 
Special Measures Plan

Source:  Department of Corporate and Information Services.

Records and information 

The Northern Territory Information Act 2002 guides how we collect, use and store government and personal information.  
The department operated within the requirements of the Act and has compliant records and information management standards, 
policies, processes and procedures in place. 
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Our financial performance

A record level of spending  
on education in the  
Northern Territory totalling 
$1.108 billion during  
2019–20, compared to  
a final estimated budget  
of $1.126 billion.

The department contributed 
to Northern Territory 
Government corporate 
services reform by transferring 
common corporate service 
functions, including Human 
Resources, Information 
Services and Infrastructure,  
to the Department of 
Corporate and Information 
Services and the Department 
of Infrastructure, Planning  
and Logistics.

The department prioritised  
the health, safety and 
wellbeing of staff, clients  
and the community in its 
response to COVID-19.  
At the start of Term 2, the 
Northern Territory was the  
first jurisdiction to return to 
face-to-face teaching and 
normal attendance levels.

The department continued 
to manage within its final 
estimated budget.

Introduction

Our commitment is to a strong public education system that gives every student the 
opportunity to engage, grow and achieve. 

The NT Government provides resources direct to schools, using a student needs-based 
funding model, to allow schools to deliver an educational program to all students and 
improve the quality of teaching and learning. Schools have the flexibility and autonomy 
to decide how to use their resources. The funding model aims to allocate funding in an 
equitable, transparent and efficient manner for better educational outcomes, as required 
under the Australian Education Act 2013. 

We prepared our financial statements on an accrual basis in accordance with the 
requirements of the Financial Management Act 1995 and related Treasurer’s Directions 
and the Australian Accounting Standards. They provide information in respect of the 
financial operations and position, changes in equity and cash flow of the department 
for the year. The financial statements inform our stakeholders and the public of our 
performance, expenditure of government funds and any significant issues.

Commonwealth Government funding
The Commonwealth Government provides funding for the delivery of education services 
in the Northern Territory through the National School Reform Agreement (NSRA), 
including the NT bilateral agreement, and the National Partnership on Northern Territory 
Remote Aboriginal Investment (NTRAI). 

Under the NSRA and accompanying bilateral agreement, $2.3 billion of Commonwealth 
Government funding will flow to Northern Territory schools over six years (2019–2023) 
including $1.2 billion for government schools and $1.1 billion for non-government 
schools. The NSRA and bilateral agreements commit both the Commonwealth and 
Northern Territory Government to contribute to the cost of schooling in the Northern 
Territory. Cost is estimated by a Schooling Resource Standards (SRS). Through the 
agreements, the Northern Territory Government commits to funds government schools 
at 55.2 per cent of the SRS in 2018, gradually increasing this to 59 per cent by 2023. 
Funding of non-government schools remains consistent at 15.09 per cent to 2023.  
In 2019–20, $207 million was provided by the Commonwealth under this agreement  
for government schools. 

The NTRAI (2016-2022) provides targeted financial assistance to the department to 
support delivery of actions that improve the lives of Aboriginal people. This supports 
actions under the Northern Territory Indigenous Education Strategy, and programs and 
services dedicated to supporting Aboriginal young people. These include support to 
young people and their families to continue their education through secondary school 
boarding, and beyond that their transitions to work and further study. NTRAI funding  
also supports the delivery of the ‘Families as First Teachers’ program in remote locations. 
In 2019–20, $26.174 million was provided by the Commonwealth under this agreement 
for government schools.
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Financial highlights

The department ended the 2019–20 financial year within its final 
approved budget and with an operating surplus of $17.4 million, 
which equates to 1.5 per cent of the department’s budget. This 
was due to unspent school funding in Semester 1, 2020 (schools 
operate on a calendar year rather than a financial year basis), 
delays in programs and reduced intra-state travel due to the 
impact of COVID-19 and other delays in the implementation of 
Commonwealth funded programs.

Government school funding managed by principals and school 
representative bodies totalled $461.3 million, equating to  
41 per cent of the department’s total budget. A further  
$72 million of school costs are managed centrally, including 
principal salaries. A total of $266.2 million of grants were paid  
to non-government schools in 2019–20, including $221 million  
of National Schools Reform Agreement funding.

Based on the combined operating and asset results, the 
department achieved its overall budget responsibilities in 
2019–20.

The department’s response to COVID-19 included a strategic 
reallocation of resources, managed within budget, to support its 
students and staff through:

• procurement and delivery of essential items, including food to 
remote community staff affected by biosecurity arrangements

• a Remote Community Schools Package to incentivise  
school staff to stay in their communities during the April  
mid-semester break

• additional support to boarding students returning home

• enhanced cleaning in all schools and corporate workplaces

• production and distribution of hardcopy learning materials  
and the launch of an online learning portal to support families

• grants to early childhood education and care providers to  
help cover costs associated with food, cleaning materials and 
minor maintenance

• expansion of the Employee Assistance Program

• supporting local jobs by a redirection of savings into a  
stimulus investment in school infrastructure.

At the start of Term 2, the Northern Territory was the first 
jurisdiction to return to face-to-face teaching and normal 
attendance levels.

Effective from 1 July 2019, the department transferred common 
corporate service functions, including human resources, 
information services and infrastructure, to the Department 
of Corporate and Information Services and the Department 
of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics. As a result, in many 
instances, 2018–19 results will not be comparable with those of 
2019–20. For example, in 2018–19, the department reported 
repairs and maintenance expenditure of $26 million. Repairs and 
maintenance expenditure in 2019–20 is reported as zero, as this 
expenditure was incurred by the Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics and is reflected in the department’s 
financial statements as Services Free of Charge of $28.2 million. 

Operating income
• The department received $1.072 billion in revenue, an increase 

of $42.8 million from last year. Figure 5 shows the composition 
of the department’s total operating income.

• The department received revenue from two main sources, 
being Northern Territory Government appropriation  
($525.7 million) and Commonwealth Government 
appropriation ($459.8 million). Together, these sources 
represent 92 per cent of the department’s total revenue  
in 2019–20. 

• The Commonwealth Government appropriation of  
$459.8 million comprised:

 – National Schools Reform Agreement funding for 
government schools of $207 million

 – National Schools Reform Agreement funding for  
non-government schools of $221 million

 – Northern Territory Remote Aboriginal Investment of  
$26.1 million to fund programs such as Families as 
First Teachers, the Transition Support Unit and student 
engagement programs

 – A further $5.7 million for other National Partnership 
Agreement funding including Universal Access to Early 
Childhood Education.

$525.7M NT output appropriation

$459.8M Commonwealth output appropriation

$67.1M Services received free of charge

$9.6M Other grants and subsidies

$9.6M Other revenue

49%43%

6%

1% 1%Figure 5: 
Composition of 
operating income 
for 2019–20



• The increase in revenue was as a result of an increase in 
National Schools Reform Agreement funding for government 
($16.9 million) and non-government schools ($42.3 million). 
The non-government schools revenue included funding for  
July payments ($19.2 million) paid in June 2020.

• Goods and services received free of charge increased  
by $51.9 million to $67.1 million due to the transfer of  
some corporate services functions to the Department of  
Corporate and Information Services and the Department  
of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics as part of the  
NT Government’s corporate services reform. 

• Other sources of income including grants and subsidies 
totalling $19.2 million.

Operating expenses
• The department’s total expenses for 2019–20 was 

$1.108 billion, an increase of $79.3 million from last year, 
predominantly attributable to:

 – additional Commonwealth National Schools Reform 
Agreement funding of $42.3 million for non-government 
schools received by the department and passed on as  
grants to those schools

 – additional employee expenditure of $19.7 million due 
to agreed enterprise agreement pay rises and additional 
school-based staff

 – additional grant payments to government schools of  
$6.8 million.

• Employee expenses remain the department’s major expense 
component at $512.1 million, making up 46.2 per cent of total 
expenses. The $19.7 million increase in employee expenditure 
was within budget. 

• Grants and subsidies of $421.1 million were paid and 
accounted for 38 per cent of the department’s total 
expenditure. The majority of this was payments to  
non-government schools of $266.2 million, including  
$221 million of National Schools Reform Agreement  
funding passed on from the Commonwealth. A further  
$117.8 million was paid to government school bank accounts 
used to meet their operating costs. Payments were also 
provided to tertiary education providers, community-based 
education organisations and families to support the  
provision of education and related services in 2019–20. 

• Figure 6 shows the composition of the department’s total 
operating expenses.

Comprehensive result
• The department delivered a comprehensive result of  

($30.9) million, compared to a budget of $50 million, 
predominantly as a result of:

 – Depreciation expenditure of $51.9 million. Depreciation  
is a non-cash, accrual accounting expenditure item and is  
not funded by government; offset in part by a budget 
underspend of $17.4 million, or 1.5 per cent of budget.

The department’s 2018–19 comprehensive result surplus  
was due to an increase in the Asset Revaluation Reserve  
of $38.8 million, predominantly a result of school land and  
buildings revaluation. Asset revaluations were deferred in 
2019–20 due to COVID-19.

Net assets
• The department’s net assets as at 30 June 2020 were  

$1.312 billion. This comprised $1.388 billion in total assets 
against $76.1 million in total liabilities

• The department’s total assets increased by $37.2 million 
compared to last year. This was mainly as a result of a number 
of capital and minor new infrastructure projects completed 
during the year and transferred from the Department of 
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics.

• The majority of our assets are in school land and buildings 
valued at $1.306 billion

• The department’s cash position increased by $13.7 million  
to $78.3 million as at 30 June 2020.

As at 30 June 2020 the department held liabilities of  
$76.1 million. This was an increase of $4.2 million when  
compared to last year and was largely due to additional  
remote land leases of $2.1 million and increased employee 
provisions of $1.1 million. 

Figure 6: Operating 
expenses for 2019–20
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$512.1M Employee expenses

$421.1M Grants and subsidies

$123M Administrative expenses

$51.9M Depreciation and amortisation

$0.4M Interest expenses

46%

38%
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5%
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Financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2020

Certification of the  
financial statements 

We certify that the attached financial statements for the department have been prepared based on proper accounts and records in 
accordance with the prescribed format, the Financial Management Act 1995 (FMA) and Treasurer’s Directions. 

We further state that the information set out in the Comprehensive Operating Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in 
Equity, Cash Flow Statement, and notes to and forming part of the financial statements presents fairly the financial performance and 
cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2020 and the financial position on that date. 

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Karen Weston      Brett Roach 
Chief Executive      Chief Financial Officer      
31 August 2020      31 August 2020  
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Comprehensive operating statement
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note
2020  
$’000

2019  
$’000

Income
Grants and subsidies revenue 4a

Current 9 574 7 254

Capital - -

Appropriation 4b

Output  525 735 572 739

Commonwealth  459 760 428 460

Sales of goods and services 4c  7 699 4 616

Goods and services received free of charge1 5 67 068 15 133

Gain on disposal of assets 6 17 -

Other income 4d 1 884 713

Total income 3 1 071 737 1 028 915

Expenses 
Employee expenses 7 512 077 492 407

Administrative expenses

Purchases of goods and services 8 50 416 65 221

Repairs and maintenance - 26 028

Property management  4 803 5 295

Depreciation and amortisation 10,16,17,18  51 940 46 082

Services free of charge1 5  67 068 15 133

Other administrative expenses  662 54

Grants and subsidies expenses

Current  414 917 367 928

Capital  6 179 10 655

Finance expenses

Interest expenses 9 386 321

Total expenses 3 1 108 448 1 029 124

Net surplus/(deficit) (36 711) (209)

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/deficit
Asset revaluation reserve 24 5 624 38 817

Transfers from reserves 183 -

Total other comprehensive income 5 807 38 817

Comprehensive result 3 (30 904) 38 608

1  Includes Department of Corporate and Information Services service charges and Department of Infrastructure Planning and Logistics repairs and maintenance  
services charges

Note: The Comprehensive Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Balance sheet
As at 30 June 2020

Note
2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Assets
Current assets

Cash and deposits 12  78 347 64 622

Receivables 14  2 505 6 398

Advances and investments 15 - 1 000

Prepayments 1 432 2 077

Total current assets 82 284 74 097

Non-current assets
Advances and investments 15 - -

Property, plant and equipment 16 1 305 996 1 276 907

Intangibles 18 57  107

Total non-current assets 1 306 053 1 277 014

Total assets 1 388 337 1 351 111

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Deposits held 30  5 5

Payables 19  8 502 8 275

Borrowings and advances 20  219 139

Provisions 21  53 926 53 019

Other liabilities 22  762 -

Total current liabilities 63 414 61 438

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings and advances 20  10 527 8 455

Provisions 21  2 203 2 025

Total non-current liabilities  12 730 10 480

Total liabilities  76 144 71 918

Net assets 1 312 193 1 279 193

Equity
Capital 1 531 627 1 467 723

Asset revaluation reserve 24  253 954 248 330

Accumulated funds (473 387) (436 860)

Total equity 1 312 193 1 279 193

Note: The Balance Sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note
Equity at  

1 July
Comprehensive 

result

Transactions with 
owners in their 

capacity as owners
Equity at  

30 June
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2019–20
Accumulated funds
Accumulated funds (436 860) (36 527)  - (473 387)

Total accumulated funds (436 860) (36 527)  - (473 387)

Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve 24  248 330 5 624  -  253 954
Capital – transactions with owners
Equity injections

Capital appropriation  34 010 - -  34 010

Equity transfers in 1 557 319 -  80 385 1 637 704

Other equity injections  25 971 -  391  26 363

Specific purpose payments  35 365 - -  35 365

Equity withdrawals

Capital withdrawals (115 643) - (9 757) (125 400)

Equity transfers out (69 300) - (7 116) (76 415)

Total capital – transactions with owners 1 467 723 -  63 903 1 531 627

Total equity at end of financial year 1 279 193 (30 904)  63 903 1 312 193

2018–19
Accumulated funds
Accumulated funds (436 651) (209) - (436 860)

Total accumulated funds (436 651) (209) - (436 860)

Reserves
Asset revaluation reserve 24 209 513 38 817 - 248 330

Capital – transactions with owners
Equity injections

Capital appropriation 34 010 - - 34 010

Equity transfers in 1 488 956 - 68 364 1 557 320

Other equity injections 25 971 - - 25 971

Specific purpose payments 35 365 - - 35 365

Equity withdrawals

Capital withdrawals (85 643) - (30 000) (115 643)

Equity transfers out (67 653) - (1 647) (69 300)

Total capital – transactions with owners 1 431 005 - 36 717 1 467 723

Total equity at end of financial year 1 203 867 38 608 36 717 1 279 193

Note: The Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash flow statement
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Note
2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating receipts
Grants and subsidies received

Current 9 574 7 254

Capital - -

Appropriation 
Output 525 735 572 739

Commonwealth 459 760 428 460

Receipts from sales of goods and services 21 630 15 430

Total operating receipts 1 016 699 1 023 883
Operating payments
Payments to employees 507 786 501 180

Payments for goods and services 65 123 110 853

Grants and subsidies paid

Current 414 917 367 928

Capital 6 179 10 655

Interest paid 386 321

Total operating payments 994 391 990 937
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 13 22 308 32 946

Cash flows from investing activities
Investing receipts
Proceeds from asset sales 6 17 -

Repayment of advances 1 000 2 000

Total investing receipts 1 017 2 000
Investing payments
Purchases of assets - 3 522

Advances and investing payments - 1 000

Total investing payments - 4 522
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 1 017 (2 522)

Cash flows from financing activities
Financing receipts
Deposits received - -

Equity injections

Capital appropriation - -

Commonwealth appropriation - -

Other equity injections 391 -

Total financing receipts 391 -
Financing payments
Finance lease payments 234 150

Equity withdrawals 9 757 30 000

Total financing payments 9 991 30 150
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 13b (9 600) (30 150)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 13 725 273

Cash at beginning of financial year 64 622 64 349

Cash at end of financial year 12 78 347 64 622

Note: The Cash Flow Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
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Index of notes to the  
financial statements
Note
1. Objectives and funding 
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4d.  Other income  
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6. Gain on disposal of assets 

 Expenses 

7. Employee expenses 

8. Purchases of goods and services 

9. Interest expenses 

10. Depreciation and amortisation

11.  Write-offs, postponements, waivers, gifts and  
ex-gratia payments 
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15. Advances and investments 

16. Property, plant and equipment 

17. Department as lessee 

18. Intangibles
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21. Provisions 
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30. Accountable Officer’s Trust Account 
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1. Objectives and funding

Our ambition is to ensure that every child in the Northern 
Territory has the best start in life and, through early learning and 
school education, gains a bright future. Additional information 
in relation to the department and its principal activities may be 
found in earlier sections of this report.

The department is predominantly funded by, and therefore 
dependent on, the receipt of parliamentary (Northern Territory 
and Commonwealth) appropriations. The financial statements 
encompass all funds through which the department controls 
resources to carry on its functions and deliver outputs. For 
reporting purposes, outputs delivered by the department are 
summarised into three output groups as follows:

• Government Education

• Non-government Education

• Corporate and Governance.

Note 3 provides summarised financial information in the form of  
a Comprehensive Operating Statement by the output groups.

a) Machinery-of-government changes
Transfers out

Details of transfer:   Human Resources, Information  
Technology, Fleet Services, Procurement 
Services and Web Management functions 
transferred to the Department of  
Corporate and Information Services

  Infrastructure Management and the  
Repairs and Maintenance Program 
transferred to the Department of 
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics

Basis of transfer:  Administrative Arrangements Order  
was signed on 27 September 2019

Date of transfer: Effective from 1 July 2019

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this change 
were as follows:

Transfers out

DIPL1  
$000

DCIS2  
$000

Assets
Cash 167 9 557

Property, plant and equipment - 1 226

Total assets 167 10 783

Liabilities
Provisions 167 1 176

Total liabilities 167 1 176

Net assets - 9 607

1  Transfers to Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics (DIPL)

2  Transfers to Department of Corporate and Information Services (DCIS)

 

2. Statement of significant accounting policies

a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Financial Management Act 1995 and 
related Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial Management Act 
1995 requires the department to prepare financial statements  
for the year ended 30 June based on the form determined by  
the Treasurer. The form of department financial statements 
should include:

• a Certification of the Financial Statements

• a Comprehensive Operating Statement

• a Balance Sheet

• a Statement of Changes in Equity

• a Cash Flow Statement

• applicable explanatory notes to the financial statements. 

b) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual 
basis of accounting, which recognises the effect of financial 
transactions and events when they occur rather than when  
cash is paid out or received. As part of the preparation of the 
financial statements, all intra department transactions and 
balances have been eliminated. 

Except where stated, the financial statements have also been 
prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

The form of the department financial statements is also consistent 
with the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards. 
The effects of all relevant new and revised standards and 
interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) that are effective for the current annual reporting 
period have been evaluated. 

c) Australian accounting standards and interpretations 
The following new and revised accounting standards and 
interpretations were effective for the first time in 2019–20:

AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with a customer / 
AASB 1058 Income for not-for-profit entities

AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15) 
supersedes AASB 111 Construction contracts, AASB 118 
Revenue and related interpretations and applies, with limited 
exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. 
Under AASB 15 revenue from agreements that are enforceable, 
have sufficiently specific performance obligations and transfer 
goods or services to the customer or third-party beneficiary will 
be recognised when or as performance obligations are satisfied. 
AASB 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into 
consideration all of the relevant facts and circumstances when 
assessing contracts with their customers.

AASB 1058 Income for not-for-profit entities (AASB 1058) 
clarifies and simplifies income-recognition requirements  
that apply to not-for-profit entities and replaces most of the  
not-for-profit provisions under AASB 1004 Contributions. 
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AASB 1058 applies to transactions where the consideration to 
acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value principally to 
enable the entity to further its objectives, and where volunteer 
services are received. 

In contrast with previous standards such as AASB 1004,  
AASB 1058 allows deferral of income from capital grants  
where there is an enforceable contract with sufficiently  
specific performance obligations and the agreement does not 
require the department to transfer the asset to other parties. 
For such capital grants, the funding received is initially deferred 
in an unearned revenue liability and subsequently recognised as 
revenue as or when the department satisfies obligations under 
the agreement. Where funding is received from another Territory 
Government-controlled entity other than Commonwealth 
funds on-passed by the Central Holding Authority, revenue is 
recognised upfront on receipt.

In accordance with transition provisions, the department has 
applied the modified retrospective approach on transition to 
AASB 15 and AASB 1058, with the cumulative effect of applying 
both accounting standards recognised in accumulated funds 
or appropriate equity code at 1 July 2019. Accordingly, the 
comparative information presented for 2018–19 has not been 
restated and is presented as previously reported. The department 
applied the accounting standards retrospectively to all contracts, 
including completed contracts, at 1 July 2019. Completed 
contracts include contracts where the department had recognised 
all revenue in prior periods under AASB 1004 Contributions.  
The department had no transitional impact of adoption of  
AASB 15 and AASB 1058 as at 1 July 2019.

AASB 16 Leases

AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) supersedes AASB 117 Leases and 
relevant interpretations and introduces significant changes  
to lessee accounting by removing the distinction between 
operating and finance leases. For lessees with operating leases,  
a right-of-use asset has now been recognised on the balance 
sheet together with a lease liability at the lease commencement, 
for all leases except for leases with a term of less than 12 months 
or where the underlying assets are of low value. In contrast to 
lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have 
remained largely unchanged and has not had a significant impact 
for leases where the department is the lessor. 

In accordance with transition provisions, the department has 
applied the modified retrospective approach on transition to 
AASB 16, with the cumulative effect of initial application of the 
standard as an adjustment to the balance sheet as at 1 July 2019. 
Accordingly, the comparative information presented for 2018–19 
has not been restated and is presented as previously reported.

Lease liabilities recognised at 1 July 2019 have been measured 
at the present value of the remaining lease payments discounted 
using the Northern Territory Treasury Corporation’s institutional 
bond rate as the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial 
application. The weighted average incremental borrowing rate 
applied to the lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 was 2.09%. 

The corresponding right-of-use asset has been recorded on 
transition at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by  
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to 
that lease recognised in the balance sheet as at 1 July 2019. 

The department has applied the following practical expedients 
permitted by AASB 16 on transition:

• lease classification has been grandfathered. Where a contract 
did not contain a lease at 1 July 2019 under AASB 117 and 
Interpretation 4, these have not been reassessed

• application of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with 
reasonably similar characteristics

• application of onerous contact assessment before transition,  
in place of performing an impairment review

• leases with a remaining term of less than 12 months as at  
1 July 2019 were expensed rather than recognised on the 
balance sheet

• exclusion of initial direct costs from the measurement of the 
right-of-use asset as at 1 July 2019

• application of hindsight in determining the lease term where 
the contract contained options to extend or terminate the lease

On adoption of AASB 16, the department recognised additional 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for land leases which had 
previously been classified as operating leases. 

Impact on affected balances of adopting AASB 16 as at  
1 July 2019 is as follows:

$’000
Balance sheet
Assets
Property, plant and equipment 334

Total assets 334

Liabilities
Borrowings and advances 334

Total liabilities 334
Net assets -

The lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 can be reconciled to the 
operating lease commitments as of 30 June 2019, as follows:

$’000
Minimum operating lease commitments  
as at 30 June 2019

482

Undiscounted lease payments 482
Less: effect of discounting using the  
incremental borrowing rate

(148)

Adjusted lease liabilities as at 1 July 2019 334

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian accounting 
standards – Australian implementation guidance for 
not-for-profit entities (AASB 9 Financial instruments)

AASB 2016-8 is effective for the first time in 2019–20 and will 
require non-contractual receivables arising from statutory 
requirements to apply the initial recognition and measurement 
requirements of AASB 9. The requirements of AASB 2016-8 are 
largely consistent with existing recognition and measurement 
practices of the department and are therefore not expected to 
have a material impact.

Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations have 
been issued that apply to the current reporting periods but are 
considered to have no impact on public sector reporting.
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Standards and interpretations issued but not  
yet effective

No Australian accounting standards have been early adopted  
for 2019–20.

On the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the 
following standard was issued but not yet effective and is 
expected to have an impact on future reporting periods:

AASB 1059 Service concession arrangement

Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations 
have been issued that apply to future reporting periods but are 
considered to have limited impact on public sector reporting. 

d) Reporting entity
The financial statements cover the department as an  
individual reporting entity. The Department of Education 
is a Northern Territory department established under the 
Interpretation Act 1978 and Administrative Arrangements Order. 

The principal place of business of the department is  
55–59 Mitchell Street, Darwin.

e) Department and Territory items
The financial statements of the department include income, 
expenses, assets, liabilities and equity over which the department 
has control (department items). Certain items, while managed 
by the department, are controlled and recorded by the Territory 
rather than the department (Territory items). Territory items are 
recognised and recorded in the Central Holding Authority  
as discussed below.

Central Holding Authority

The Central Holding Authority is the ‘parent body’ that  
represents the government’s ownership interest in  
government-controlled entities. 

The Central Holding Authority also records all Territory items, 
such as income, expenses, assets and liabilities controlled by 
the government and managed by departments on behalf of the 
government. The main Territory item is Territory income, which 
includes taxation and royalty revenue, Commonwealth general 
purpose funding (such as GST revenue), fines and statutory fees 
and charges. 

The Central Holding Authority also holds certain Territory  
assets not assigned to departments as well as certain  
Territory liabilities that are not practical or effective to assign  
to individual departments such as unfunded superannuation  
and long-service leave.

The Central Holding Authority recognises and records all 
Territory items, and as such, these items are not included in  
the department’s financial statements. However, as the 
department is accountable for certain Territory items managed  
on behalf of government, these items have been separately 
disclosed in Note 33 – Schedule of Administered Territory Items.

f) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information for the 2018–19 
financial year has been reclassified to provide consistency with 
current year disclosures.

g) Presentation and rounding of amounts
Amounts in the financial statements and notes to the financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollars and have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, with amounts of $500 
or less being rounded down to zero. Figures in the financial 
statements and notes may not equate due to rounding.

h) Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes to accounting policies adopted in 
2019–20 as a result of management decisions. Changes in policies 
relating to COVID-19 are disclosed in (M) below.

i) Accounting judgements and estimates 
The preparation of the financial report requires the making of 
judgements and estimates that affect the recognised amounts 
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results 
of which form the basis for making judgements about the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods 
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements and estimates that have significant effects on the 
financial statements are disclosed in the relevant notes to the 
financial statements.

j) Goods and services tax
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of 
goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST 
incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable 
from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST 
included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
Balance Sheet.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross 
basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. Commitments and 
contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable 
or payable unless otherwise specified. 

k) Contributions by and distributions to government
The department may receive contributions from government 
where the government is acting as owner of the department. 
Conversely, the department may make distributions to 
government. In accordance with the Financial Management Act 
1995 and Treasurer’s Directions, certain types of contributions 
and distributions, including those relating to administrative 
restructures, have been designated as contributions by, and 
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distributions to, government. These designated contributions  
and distributions are treated by the department as adjustments 
to equity.

The Statement of Changes in Equity provides additional 
information in relation to contributions by, and distributions  
to, government.

l) Impact of COVID-19
The department’s management made a number of decisions  
as a result of COVID-19, which has affected the 2019–20  
financial statements.

The department activated its Emergency Management 
Committee and established an Emergency Management 
Taskforce to support the department’s response to the COVID-19 
pandemic and implemented a comprehensive pandemic action 
plan with the following strategic principles:

• The health, safety and wellbeing of staff, clients and the 
community will be prioritised.

• All decision making will be based on expert advice from the 
Public Health Directorate.

• Continued service delivery will be prioritised wherever 
possible, with a focus on critical services.

• The response will be proportionate, flexible and scalable.

To support the above strategic principles, the department made  
a number of policy decisions:

• Implementing travel controls:

 –  restrictions on non-essential travel to remote schools

 –  procurement and delivery of essential items, including 
food to remote community staff affected by biosecurity 
arrangements

 –  reduced staff movements for work and holidays. The 
department provided a Remote Community Schools 
Package to incentivise school staff to stay in their 
communities during the mid-semester break. It included a 
$500 retention payment, retention of unused fares out of 
isolated localities and an additional day of leave to conduct 
personal business

 –  ongoing support to boarding students returning home, with 
the department providing grants to schools for additional 
teaching staff, devices, teaching resources and physical 
spaces for these students to continue their learning in their 
local community

 –  the department deferred its school land and buildings 
revaluation program in 2019–20, which was to focus on  
East Arnhem schools and would have required travel to 
those schools. 

• Staff and student safety:

 –  funding to support enhanced cleaning in all schools and 
corporate workplaces

 –  delivery of hygiene and cleaning supplies to all schools  
and workplaces

 –  physical distancing in schools and workplaces

 –  a move to remote work or schooling for vulnerable staff  
and students 

 – provision of resources for schools to use to ensure the safety 
of students and staff. These include operating guidelines, 
‘enhancing safety at schools’ fact sheets, COVID 19 cleaning 
and disinfection advice, and physical distancing. 

• Continuity of learning:

 – production and distribution of hardcopy learning materials 
to support families

 – launch of an online learning portal.

• Continuity of business:

 – critical services mapping and redirection of resources 

 – intensive support and regular communications with  
Early Childhood Education and Care providers, including 
offering one-off grants to help cover the costs associated 
with food, cleaning materials and minor maintenance.

• Wellbeing:

 –  wellbeing support for children, families and staff

 –  expansion of the Employee Assistance Program by three 
additional sessions to support the wellbeing of all staff

 –  provision of regular updates throughout the pandemic to 
schools through weekly Skype conversations, email updates 
and access to an online portal, to ensure they can plan 
appropriately and keep their school communities informed 

 –  advising that school council staff are to continue to be paid 
should schools be required to temporarily close in response 
to COVID-19, providing job security for casual staff.

• Other:

 –  the last four days of Term 1 were designated as professional 
development days for staff to prepare for the continued 
delivery of education in Term 2

 –  supporting local jobs and investing in our children through 
a redirection of savings into a stimulus investment in 
infrastructure works, including transportable classrooms 
and acoustic upgrades 

 –  on request of public health authorities, the department 
made available the use of several facilities for use as 
quarantine facilities. 

• Returning to core business:

 – at the start of Term 2, the Northern Territory was the first 
jurisdiction to return to face-to-face teaching and normal 
attendance levels

 –  maintaining emergency response structures to respond to 
changes in the pandemic event as required 

 –  focussing on attendance to ensure that children are engaged 
across this challenging period.

m) Changes in policies relating to COVID-19
Taking account of the impact of COVID-19, detailed above, 
the department has made changes to its policies, guidelines, 
delegations and procedures in the following areas: travel, 
recruitment, cleaning, employment assistance programs, 
working-from-home arrangements, school term dates, grant 
funding arrangements, physical distancing, school excursions, 
school sports, school visitors, large school events, community 
use of school facilities, staff professional development, student 
attendance recording and school transport.
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3. Comprehensive operating statement by output group

Government 
education

Non-government 
education

Corporate and 
governance Total

Note 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income 
Grants and subsidies revenue 4a

Current 9 155 7 233 19 21 400 - 9 574 7 254
Capital - - - - - - - -

Appropriation 4b
Output 445 635 476 297 57 014 58 835 23 086 37 607 525 735 572 739
Commonwealth 238 545 249 617 221 215 178 843 - - 459 760 428 460

Sales of goods and services 4c 7 566 4 471 7 13 126 132 7 699 4 616
Goods and services received  
free of charge1

5 - - - - - - - -

DCIS services for schools  
and corporate

- - - - 37 228 13 470 37 228 13 470

Schools repairs and 
maintenance

- - - - 28 242 - 28 242 -

Department goods and services - - - - 1 598 1 663 1 598 1 663
Gain on disposal of assets 6 17 - - - - - 17 -
Other income 4d 425 353 43 81 1 416 279 1 884 713
Total income 701 343 737 971 278 298 237 793 92 096 53 151 1 071 737 1 028 915
Expenses 
Employee expenses 7 490 114 464 313 5 062 4 069 16 901 24 025 512 077 492 407
Administrative expenses

Purchases of goods and services 8 42 100 52 797 3 820 5 136 4 496 7 288 50 416 65 221
Repairs and maintenance2 - - - 117 - 190 - 307
Property management 3 982 4 070 9 21 812 1 204 4 803 5 295
Depreciation and  
amortisation

10, 16, 
17,18

51 920 46 063 - - 19 19 51 939 46 082

Services free of charge1 5 - - - - - - - -
DCIS services for schools  
and corporate

- - - - 37 228 13 470 37 228 13 470

Schools repairs and 
maintenance2

- 25 721 - - 28 242 - 28 242 25 721

Department goods  
and services

- - - - 1 598 1 663 1 598 1 663

Other administrative expenses 403 33 - - 260 21 663 54
Grants and subsidies expenses

Current 151 637 144 989 263 062 220 815 218 2 124 414 917 367 928
Capital 14 5 500 6 165 5 155 - - 6 179 10 655

Finance expenses
Interest expenses 9 386 321 - - - - 386 321

Total expenses 740 556 743 807 278 118 235 313 89 774 50 004 1 108 448 1 029 124
Net surplus/(deficit) (39 213) (5 836) 180 2 480 2 322 3 147 (36 711) (209)
Other comprehensive 
income
Items that will not be reclassified 
to net surplus/deficit
Asset revaluation reserve 24 5 624 38 817 - - - - 5 624 38 817
Transfers from reserves 183 - - - - - 183 -
Total other  
comprehensive income 5 807 38 817 - - - - 5 807 38 817

Comrehensive result (33 406) 32 981 180 2 480 2 322 3 147 (30 904) 38 608

Note: This Comprehensive Operating Statement by Output Group is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

As a consequence of AAO changes on 1 July 2019, financial statements of the department reflect the actual period of responsibility for the output groups being the period  
1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 for the transferring output groups Government Education and Corporate and Governance.

1  Includes Department of Corporate and Information Services service charges and Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics repairs and maintenance  
service charges. 

2  2018–19 comparative for Government Education repairs and maintenance expenses have been restated to schools repairs and maintenance expenses with the 
machinery-of-government changes.
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Income
Income encompasses both revenue and gains.

Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration 
received, exclusive of the amount of GST. Exchanges of goods 
or services of the same nature and value without any cash 
consideration being exchanged are not recognised as income.

4. Revenue

a) Grants and subsidies revenue

2020 2019
Revenue from 
contracts with 

customers 
$’000

Other 
$’000

Total 
$’000 $’000

Current grants - 9 574 9 574 7 254

Capital grants - - - -

Total grants and 
subsidies revenue

- 9 574 9 574 7 254

Grants revenue is recognised at fair value exclusive of the  
amount of GST. Until 30 June 2019, grant revenue and other  
non-reciprocal contributions were recognised as revenue when 
the department obtains control over the asset comprising the 
contribution, which was normally obtained on receipt.

From 1 July 2019, where a grant agreement is enforceable 
and has sufficiently specific performance obligations for the 
department to transfer goods or services to the grantor or a  
third-party beneficiary, the transaction is accounted for under 

AASB 15. In this case, revenue is initially deferred as a contract 
liability when received in advance and recognised as or when 
the performance obligations are satisfied. The department has 
adopted a low value contract threshold of $50 000 excluding GST 
and recognises revenue from contracts with a low value, upfront 
on receipt of income. 

A financing component for consideration is only recognised if it 
is significant to the contract and the period between the transfer 
of goods and services and receipt of consideration is more than 
one year. For the 2019–20 reporting period, there were no 
adjustments for the effects of a significant financing component. 

Where grant agreements do not meet criteria above, it is 
accounted for under AASB 1058 and income is recognised on 
receipt of funding except for capital grants revenue received 
for the purchase or construction of non-financial assets to be 
controlled by the department. Capital grants with enforceable 
contracts and sufficiently specific obligations are recognised as 
an unearned revenue liability when received and subsequently 
recognised progressively as revenue as or when the department 
satisfies its obligations under the agreement. Where a  
non-financial asset is purchased, revenue is recognised at  
the point in time the asset is acquired and control transfers  
to the department.

For constructed assets, revenue is recognised over time, using the 
percentage of completion method, measured as the costs incurred 
as a proportion of estimated total project costs.

Grant revenue, passed on from a Territory Government-
controlled entity with the exception of the Central Holding 
Authority, is recognised upfront on receipt, irrespective of which 
revenue accounting standard it may fall under in accordance with 
the Treasurer’s Direction on income. 

b) Appropriation

2020 2019
Revenue from contracts with customers 

$’000
Other 
$’000

Total 
$’000 $’000

Output - 525 735 525 735 572 739

Commonwealth - 459 760 459 760 428 460

Total appropriation - 985 495 985 495 1 001 199

Output appropriation is the operating payment to each 
department for the outputs they provide as specified in the 
Appropriation Act. It does not include any allowance for major 
non-cash costs such as depreciation. The treatment of output 
appropriations remains the same after adopting AASB 15 and 
AASB 1058, because they do not have sufficiently specific 
performance obligations. 

Commonwealth appropriation follows from the 
intergovernmental agreement on federal financial relations, 
resulting in specific purpose payments (SPPs) and national 
partnership (NP) payments being made by the Commonwealth 
Treasury to state treasuries, in a manner similar to arrangements 
for GST payments. These payments are received by the 
Department of Treasury and Finance on behalf of the Central 
Holding Authority and then passed on to the relevant agencies  
as Commonwealth appropriation. 

Until 30 June 2019, Commonwealth appropriation was 
recognised in the period when the department gains control 
of the funds, which was on receipt of funding. Commonwealth 
appropriation has been assessed under AASB 1058.

From 1 July 2019, where appropriation received has an 
enforceable contract with sufficiently specific performance 
obligations as defined in AASB 15, revenue is recognised as and 
when goods and or services are transferred to the customer or 
third-party beneficiary. Otherwise revenue is recognised when 
the department gains control of the funds. 
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c) Sale of goods and services

2020 2019
Revenue from 
contracts with 

customers 
$’000

Other 
$’000

Total 
$’000 $’000

Sales of goods  
and services

7 358 161 7 699 4 616

Total sales of goods 
and services

7 358 161 7 699 4 616

Rendering of services

Until 30 June 2019, revenue from rendering services was 
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the 
contract. From 1 July 2019, revenue from rendering of services 
is recognised when the department satisfies the performance 
obligation by transferring the promised services. Services 
provided by the department include educational services 
provided to international students, and the employment of staff 
under Northern Territory Public Sector conditions which are 
funded by school contributions. The department typically satisfies 
its performance obligations when school staff are employed and 
educational services are provided to individuals. 

d) Other income

2020 2019
Revenue from 
contracts with 

customers 
$’000

Other 
$’000

Total 
$’000 $’000

Other income - 1 884 1 884 713

Total other income - 1 884 1 884 713

5. Goods and services received free of charge

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Corporate and information services 37 228 13 470

Repairs and maintenance 28 242 -

Department goods and services 1 598 1 663

67 068 15 133

Resources received free of charge are recognised as revenue 
when, and only when, a fair value can be reliably determined and 
the services would have been purchased if they had not been 
donated. Use of those resources is recognised as an expense. 
Resources received free of charge are recorded as either revenue 
or gains depending on their nature. From 1 July 2019, repairs 
and maintenance expenses and associated employee costs were 
centralised under the Department of Infrastructure, Planning 
and Logistics as part of a machinery-of-government change 
and now forms part of goods and services free of charge of the 
department. The department now recognises a notional repairs 
and maintenance expense under services received free of charge. 

In addition, from 1 July 2019, corporate services staff and 
functions were centralised under the Department of Corporate 
and Information Services as part of a machinery-of-government 
change and now forms part of goods and services free of charge  
of the department. 

Output appropriation is provided directly to the Department 
of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics and Department of 
Corporate and Information Services to undertake services  
on behalf of the department. The notional value of these 
services is shown in both services free of charge revenue and 
corresponding expense.

6. Gain on disposal of assets  

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Net proceeds from the disposal  
of non-current assets

17 -

Less: Carrying value of  
non-current assets disposed

- -

Gain on the disposal of  
non-current assets

17 -

Proceeds from sale of  
minor assets

- -

Total gain on disposal  
of assets

17 -

7. Employee expenses  

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Salaries and related expenses 440 925 424 657

Payroll tax 25 876 24 903

Fringe benefits tax 3 098 3 358

Superannuation expenses 42 178 39 489

512 077 492 407
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8. Purchases of goods and services 

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

The net surplus/(deficit) has been 
arrived at after charging the 
following expenses:

Goods and services expenses:
Consultants1  3 978 3 693

Advertising2 31 95

Marketing and promotion3 818 652

Document production 1 060 1 377

Legal expenses4 266 116

Recruitment5 2 373 2 549

Training and study 3 007 3 698

Official duty fares 2 361 3 066

Travelling allowance 1 170 1 388

Information technology charges, 
hardware and software6

10 990 21 543

Motor vehicles 5 926 6 587

Relocations 1 688 2 236

Insurance premiums – workers 
compensation

 6 929 6 928

Communications  1 264 1 179

Consumables/general  2 909 3 037

Other goods and services7  5 646 7 077

50 416 65 221

1 Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants.   

2  Does not include recruitment advertising or marketing and promotion 
advertising costs.

3  Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing  
and promotion consultants’ expenses, which are incorporated in the  
consultants’ category.

4  Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs.  

5  Includes recruitment-related advertising costs.  

6  Information technology charges, hardware and software decreased due to the 
transfer of Information technology functions to the Department of Corporate 
and Information Services as a result of the machinery-of-government changes

7  Includes audit fees, entertainment/hospitality, fees and other regulatory charges, 
freight, membership and subscriptions, office requisites and stationery and other 
equipment expenses. 

Purchases of goods and services generally represent the  
day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations,  
including supplies and service costs recognised in the reporting 
period in which they are incurred.

Repairs and maintenance expense
From 1 July 2019, repairs and maintenance expenses were 
centralised under the Department of Infrastructure, Planning 
and Logistics as part of machinery-of-government changes. The 
department now recognises a notional repairs and maintenance 
expense under services received free of charge in Note 5. 

9. Interest expense  

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Interest from lease liabilities1 386 321

386 321

1  2020 interest expense relates to lease liabilities in accordance with AASB 16, 
while 2019 interest expense relates to finance lease liabilities in accordance  
with AASB 117.

Interest expenses consist of interest and other costs incurred  
in connection with the borrowing of funds and includes  
lease liabilities.

10. Depreciation and amortisation

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Buildings 50 982 44 734

Plant and equipment 315 331

Computer hardware - 369

Leased land 294 234

Computer software 49 49

Transport equipment 300 365

51 939 46 082
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11. Write-offs, postponements, waivers, gifts and ex-gratia payments

Department items Territory Items
2020 
$’000

No. of 
trans.

2019 
$’000

No. of 
trans.

2020 
$’000

No. of 
trans.

2019 
$’000

No. of 
trans.

Write-offs, postponements and waivers under the  
Financial Management Act 1995

    

Represented by:

Amounts written off, postponed and waived by delegates
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory or a  
department written off

9 9 35 33 - - - -

Losses or deficiencies of money written off - - - - - - - -

Public property written off - 5 - - - - - -

Waiver or postponement of right to receive or recover  
money or property

- - - - - - - -

Total written off, postponed and waived by delegates 9 14 35 33 - - - -

Amounts written off, postponed and waived by the Treasurer 
Write-offs, postponements and waivers due to COVID-19 - - - - - - - -

Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory or a  
department written off

- - - - - - - -

Losses or deficiencies of money written off - - - - - - - -

Public property written off - - - - - - - -

Waiver or postponement of right to receive or recover  
money or property

- - 12 1 - - - -

Total written off, postponed and waived by the Treasurer - - 12 1 - - - -

Write-offs, postponements and waivers authorised  
under other legislation - - - - - - - -

Gifts under the Financial Management Act 1995 - - - - - - - -

Gifts by delegate - - - - - - - -

Gifts by Treasurer1 191 1 - - - - - -

Gifts authorised under other legislation - - - - - - - -

Ex-gratia payments under the Financial Management Act 1995 - - - - - - - -

1  Gifting of excess demountables to a non-government organisation. 
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12. Cash and deposits  

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Cash on hand - 1

Cash at bank 78 347 64 621

78 347 64 622

For the purposes of the Balance Sheet and the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes cash on hand and cash at bank. Cash at bank  
includes monies held in the Accountable Officer’s Trust Account (AOTA) that are ultimately payable to the beneficial owner –  
refer also to Note 30.

13. Cash flow reconciliation  

a) Reconciliation of cash  
The total of department ‘cash and deposits’ of $78 347 million recorded in the Balance Sheet is consistent with that recorded as ‘cash’  
in the Cash Flow Statement. 

Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net cash from operating activities  

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Net surplus/(deficit) (36 711) (209)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 51 939 46 082

Repairs and maintenance – Minor new works non-cash - 996

Asset write-offs/write-downs  294 -

Asset donations/gifts 191 -

Gain/loss on disposal of assets (17) -

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables1 3 965 (5 574)

Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments 645 (435)

(Decrease)/Increase in payables (2 548) (4 451)

(Decrease)/Increase in provision for employee benefits 409 (3 046)

(Decrease)/Increase in other provisions 675 (418)

(Decrease)/Increase in other deferred income 3 466 -

Net cash from operating activities 22 308 32 946

1  Movement in receivables relates to minor new works projects of $2.9 million reported in 2018–19.
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b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

Cash flows Other

1 July 

Recognised 
on AASB 16 

adoption
Adjusted  

1 July

Lease 
liabilities 

repayments Other

Total 
cash 

flows Other
Total 
other 30 June

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
2019–20
Deposits held 5 - 5 - - - - - 5
Borrowings and 
advances 

8 594 334 8 928 (234) - (234) 2 053 2 053 10 747

Provisions 55 044 - 55 044 - - - 1 085 1 085 56 129
Equity injections/
withdrawals

- - - - (9 366) (9 366) 73 269 73 269 63 903

Total 63 643 334 63 977 (234) (9 366) (9 600) 76 407 76 407 130 784

Cash flows Other

1 July 
Lease liabilities 

repayments Other
Total cash 

flows Other Total other 30 June
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2018–19
Deposits held 5 - - - - - 5
Borrowings and advances 8 344 (150) - (150) - 400 8 594
Provisions 58 508 - - - (3 464) (3 464) 55 044
Equity injections/withdrawals - - (30 000)1 (30 000) - 66 717 36 717
Total 66 857 (150) (30 000) (30 150) (3 464) 63 653 100 360

1  Temporary equity withdrawal of $30 million relating to the transfer of cash to the Central Holding Authority to assist the whole-of-government cash flow.

 

c) Non-cash financing and investing activities

Lease transactions

During the financial year, the department recorded right-of-use  
asset for the lease of land with an aggregate value of $1.9 million 
in comparison to $0.4 million in 2018–19.

14. Receivables 

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Current
Accounts receivable 1 991 1 168

Less: Loss allowance (641) (472)

1 350 696

GST receivables 1 155 2 741

Other receivables - 2 961

1 155 5 702

Total receivables 2 505 6 398

Receivables are initially recognised when the department 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument 
and are measured at fair value less any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Receivables include contract receivables, 
accounts receivable and other receivables.

Receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any impairments.

The loss allowance reflects lifetime expected credit losses and 
represents the amount of receivables the department estimates 
are likely to be uncollectible and are considered doubtful.

Accrued contract revenue
Accrued contract revenue arise from contracts with customers 
where the department’s right to consideration in exchange for  
goods transferred to customers or works completed have  
arisen but have not been billed at the reporting date. Once the 
department’s rights to payment becomes unconditional, usually 
on issue of an invoice, accrued contract revenue balances are 
reclassified as contract receivables. Accrued revenue that does 
not arise from contracts with customers are reported as part of 
other receivables.
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Loss allowance for receivables

2020 2019

Gross 
receivables 

$’000

Loss 
rate 

%

Expected 
credit 
losses 
$’000

Net 
receivables 

$’000

Gross 
receivables 

$’000

Loss 
rate 

%

Expected 
credit 
losses 
$’000

Net 
receivables 

$’000
Internal receivables
Not overdue - - - - 58 - - 58

Overdue for 
less than  
30 days

- - - - - - - -

Overdue for  
30 to 60 days

- - - - - - - -

Overdue for 
more than  
60 days

- - - - - - - -

Total internal 
receivables - - - - 58 - - 58

External receivables
Not overdue 839 8.6% 72 767 89 5.6% 5 84

Overdue for 
less than  
30 days

60 6.7% 4 56 412 18% 74 338

Overdue for  
30 to 60 days

149 6.7% 10 139 37 5.4% 2 35

Overdue for 
more than  
60 days

943 58.9% 555 388 572 68% 391 181

Total external 
receivables 1 991 32.2% 641 1 350 1 110 42.5% 472 638

Credit risk exposure of receivables
Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure 
exposure to bad debts is not significant. The entity applies the 
simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. This 
approach recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime  
expected credit losses for all accounts receivables, contracts 
receivables and accrued contract revenue. To measure  
expected credit losses, receivables have been grouped based  
on shared risk characteristics and days past due. 

The expected loss rates are based on historical  
observed loss rates, adjusted to reflect current and  
forward-looking information.

In accordance with the provisions of the FMA, receivables are 
written-off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery 
includes a failure to make contractual payments for a period 
greater than 60 days past due. 

The loss allowance for receivables and reconciliation as at the 
reporting date is disclosed below.
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Reconciliation of loss allowance for receivables

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Internal receivables(a)

Opening balance - -

Written off during the year - -

Recovered during the year - -

Increase/decrease in allowance 
recognised in profit or loss

- -

Total internal receivables - -

External receivables
Opening balance 472 466

Written off during the year (9) (47)

Recovered during the year - -

Increase/decrease in allowance 
recognised in profit or loss

178 53

Total external receivables 641 472

(a)  Internal receivables are from entities controlled by the NTG (entities listed in 
the Treasurer’s Annual Financial Report (TAFR) 2018–19 Note 43: Details of 
controlled entities at reporting date), whereas external receivables are from 
parties external to the NTG. 

15. Advances and investments

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Current
Advances paid - 1 000

Less: Loss allowance - -

Total current - 1 000
Non-current
Advances paid - -

Less: Loss allowance - -

Total non-current - -

Total advances and investments - 1 000

Note: The department had no investments in 2019–20 and 2018–19. 

a) Advances paid
Advances paid are recognised initially at fair value plus or  
minus relevant transaction costs and are recognised in the 
balance sheet when the department becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instruments. Where 
the advances are provided with interest-free periods or at 
concessional interest rates, they are considered to have a 
fair value which is less than the amount lent. This fair value is 
calculated in accordance with Note 25. The difference between 
the amount lent and the fair value is recognised as an expense in 
the comprehensive income statement.
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Credit risk exposure of advances paid

Advances paid are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that exposure to bad debts is not significant. The department applies the 
AASB 9 general approach to measuring expected credit losses. This approach recognises a loss allowance based on 12-month expected 
credit losses if there has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and lifetime expected credit losses if there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 

The loss allowance for advances paid and reconciliation as at the reporting date is disclosed below.

2020 2019
Gross 

advances 
paid  

$’000

Loss 
rate 

%

Expected 
credit 
losses 
$’000

Net 
receivables 

$’000

Gross 
advances 

paid  
$’000

Loss 
rate 

%

Expected 
credit 
losses 
$’000

Net 
receivables 

$’000
Internal  
advances paid
Not overdue - - - - - - - -

Overdue for less 
than 30 days

- - - - - - - -

Overdue for  
30 to 60 days

- - - - - - - -

Overdue for more 
than 60 days

- - - - - - -

Total internal 
advances paid

- - - - - - - -

External  
advances paid
Not overdue - - - - 1 000 - - 1 000

Overdue for less 
than 30 days

- - - - - - - -

Overdue for  
30 to 60 days

- - - - - - - -

Overdue for more 
than 60 days

- - - - - - -

Total external 
advances paid

- - - - 1 000 - - 1 000
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16. Property, plant and equipment 

a) Total property, plant and equipment 

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Land 
At fair value 110 881 112 001

110 881 112 001
Leased land1 
At capitalised cost  11 706 9 318

Less: Accumulated amortisation (1 510) (1 216)

 10 196 8 102
Buildings 
At fair value 2 368 176 2 285 467

Less: Accumulated depreciation (1 184 994) (1 134 746)

1 183 182 1 150 721
Plant and equipment
At fair value 10 409 14 042

Less: Accumulated depreciation (9 725) (9 538)

684 4 504
Computer hardware
At capitalised cost 965 3 538

Less: Accumulated depreciation (965) (3 312)

- 226
Transport equipment
At capitalised cost 2 910 2 910

Less: Accumulated depreciation (1 857) (1 557)

1 053 1 353

Total property, plant and equipment 1 305 996 1 276 907

Note: Computer software is classified as an intangible asset and reported in Note 18.

1  2019–20 balance relates to concessionary leases, which are right-of-use assets under leases that have significantly below-market terms and conditions principally to 
enable the department to further its objectives. 2018–19 balance relates to leased assets under finance lease arrangement as per AASB 117.
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2020 Property, plant and equipment reconciliations
From 1 July 2019, property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases, effective from that date. 

Further information on right-of-use assets is disclosed in Note 17. A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment at the beginning and end of 2019–20 is set out below:

 
Land 

$’000

Leased 
land 

$’000
Buildings 

$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

Computer 
hardware 

$’000

Transport 
equipment 

$’000

Construction 
(WIP) 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Carrying amount as at  
1 July 2019

112 001 8 103 1 150 721 4 504 226 1 353 - 1 276 908

Reclassification1 - - - - - - - -

Recognition of right-of-use 
assets on initial adoption of 
AASB 16

- 334 - - - - - 334

Adjusted carrying amount 
as at 1 July 2019

112 001 8 437 1 150 721 4 504 226 1 353 - 1 277 242

Additions -  2 053  80 011 - - - - 82 064

Additions of right-of-use 
assets

- - - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - - - -

Depreciation expense – 
asset owned

- - (50 982) (315) - (300) - (51 597)

Amortisation expense – 
right-of-use asset

- (294) - - - - - (294)

Additions/disposals from 
administrative restructuring

- - (191) - - - - (191)

Additions/(disposals) from 
asset transfers 

(1 120) - - (3 505) (226) - - (4 851)

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)

- - 3 623 - - - - 3 623

Other adjustments - - - - - - - -

Carrying amount as at  
30 June 2020

 110 881  10 196 1 183 182  684 -  1 053 - 1 305 996

1  Existing finance lease asset under AASB 117 are reclassified and presented under the corresponding underlying asset from 1 July 2019

Note: The Department of Education has a five-year rolling revaluation program for land and buildings.
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

2019 Property, plant and equipment reconciliations
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 2018–19 is set out below:

 
Land 

$’000

Leased 
land 

$’000
Buildings 

$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

Computer 
hardware 

$’000

Transport 
equipment 

$’000

Construction 
(WIP) 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Carrying amount as at  
1 July 2018

112 579 7 936 1 090 339 1 313 595 1 718 - 1 214 480

Additions - 400 - 3 522 - - - 3 922

Disposals - - - - - - - -

Depreciation/amortisation - (234) (44 734) (331) (369) (365) - (46 033)

Additions/(disposals)  
from asset transfers 

(720) - 65 871 - - - - 65 151

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)

142 - 39 245 - - - - 39 387

Other adjustments - - - - - - - -

Carrying amount as at  
30 June 2019

112 001 8 102 1 150 721 4 504 226 1 353 - 1 276 907

Note: The Department of Education has a five-year rolling revaluation program for land and buildings.
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

b) Property, plant and equipment held and used by the department
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment held and used by the department at the beginning and end of  
2019–20 is set out below:

Land 
$’000

Leased 
land 

$’000
Buildings 

$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

Computer 
hardware 

$’000

Transport 
equipment 

$’000

Construction 
(WIP) 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2019
Gross carrying amount 2 261 839 2 261 839

Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation

- - (1 128 635) - - - - (1 128 635)

Carrying amount as at  
1 July 2019

- - 1 133 204 - - - - 1 133 204

Reclassification1

Recognition of right-of-use 
assets on initial adoption  
of AASB 16

- - - - - - - -

Adjusted carrying amount  
as at 1 July 2019

- - 1 133 204 - - - - 1 133 204

Additions - - 80 011 - - - - 80 011

Additions of  
right-of-use assets

- - - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - - - -

Depreciation expense –  
asset owned

- - (50 484) - - - - (50 484)

Amortisation expense – 
right-of-use asset

- - - - - - - -

Additions/disposals from 
administrative restructuring

- - (191) - - - - (191)

Additions/(disposals) from 
asset transfers 

- - - - - - - -

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)

- - 3 623 - - - - 3 623

Impairment losses - -

Impairment losses reversed

Other movements - - - - - - - -

Carrying amount as at  
30 June 2020

- - 1 166 163 - - - - 1 166 163

1  Existing finance lease asset under AASB 117 are reclassified and presented under the corresponding underlying asset from 1 July 2019. 
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16. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

c) Property, plant and equipment where entity is lessor under operating leases
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment where department is lessor under operating leases at the 
beginning and end of 2019–20 is set out below:

Land 
$’000

Leased 
land 

$’000
Buildings 

$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

Computer 
hardware 

$’000

Transport 
equipment 

$’000

Construction 
(WIP) 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2019
Gross carrying amount 23 628 23 628

Accumulated depreciation/
amortisation

- - (6 111) - - - - (6 111)

Carrying amount as at  
1 July 2019

- - 17 517 - - - - 17 517

Reclassification1

Recognition of right-of-use assets 
on initial adoption of AASB 16

- - - - - - - -

Adjusted carrying amount as at  
1 July 2019

- - 17 517 - - - - 17 517

Additions - - - - - - - -

Additions of right-of-use assets - - - - - - - -

Disposals - - - - - - - -

Depreciation expense –  
asset owned

- - (498) - - - - (498)

Amortisation expense –  
right-of-use asset

- - - - - - - -

Additions/disposals from 
administrative restructuring

- - - - - - - -

Additions/(disposals) from  
asset transfers 

- - - - - - - -

Revaluation increments/
(decrements)

- - - - - - - -

Impairment losses - -

Impairment losses reversed

Other movements - - - - - - - -

Carrying amount as at  
30 June 2020

- - 17 019 - - - - 17 019

1  Existing finance lease asset under AASB 117 are reclassified and presented under the corresponding underlying asset from 1 July 2019.

Note: Property, plant and equipment relate to peppercorn lease arrangements.
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Acquisitions

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost 
and subsequently revalued at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash 
equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given 
to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction 
or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when 
initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other 
accounting standards.

All items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other 
value equal to or greater than $10 000 are recognised in the 
year of acquisition and depreciated as outlined below. Items of 
property, plant and equipment below the $10 000 threshold are 
expensed in the year of acquisition. 

The construction cost of property, plant and equipment includes 
the cost of materials and direct labour, and an appropriate 
proportion of fixed and variable overheads.

Complex assets

Major items of plant and equipment comprising a number of 
components that have different useful lives are accounted for 
as separate assets. The components may be replaced during the 
useful life of the complex asset.

Subsequent additional costs

Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment subsequent 
to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that 
future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed 
performance of the asset will flow to the department in future 
years. Where these costs represent separate components of a 
complex asset, they are accounted for as separate assets and 
separately depreciated over their expected useful lives.

Construction (work in progress)

As part of the financial management framework, the Department 
of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics is responsible for 
managing general government capital works projects on a 
whole-of-government basis. Therefore, appropriation for 
the department’s capital works is provided directly to the 
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics and the 
cost of construction work in progress is recognised as an asset 
of that department. Once completed, capital works assets are 
transferred to the department. 

Revaluations and impairment

Revaluation of assets

Subsequent to initial recognition, assets belonging to the 
following classes of non-current assets are revalued with 
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of  
these assets does not differ materially from their fair value  
at reporting date: 

• land 

• buildings.

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
depreciation, which is deemed to equate to fair value. 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, 
or liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm’s-length transaction.

For right-of-use assets, the net present value of the remaining 
lease payments is often an appropriate proxy for the fair value 
of relevant right-of-use assets at the time of initial recognition. 
Subsequently, right-of-use assets are stated at cost less 
amortisation, which is deemed to equate to fair value. 

For right-of-use assets under leases that have significantly  
below-market terms and conditions principally to enable the 
department to further its objectives, the department has elected 
to measure the asset at cost. These right-of-use assets are not 
subject to revaluation.

The latest revaluations as at 30 June 2019 were independently 
conducted. The valuer was Colliers International. Refer to  
Note 25: Fair value measurement for additional disclosures.  
The revaluation was based on either market value or fair value, 
which was assessed with reference to the asset’s replacement 
cost less accumulated depreciation where there was no 
established, identifiable market for the asset.

As a result of COVID-19, the department deferred its school  
land and buildings revaluation program in 2019–20, which was  
to focus on East Arnhem schools, and would have required travel 
to those schools.

Impairment of assets

An asset is said to be impaired when the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Non-current physical and intangible department assets are 
assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis or 
whenever there is an indication of impairment. If an indicator 
of impairment exists, the department determines the asset’s 
recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is 
determined as the higher of the asset’s current replacement cost 
and fair value less costs to sell. Any amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as 
an impairment loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in the Comprehensive 
Operating Statement. They are disclosed as an expense unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount. Where the asset is 
measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset 
against the asset revaluation surplus for that class of asset  
to the extent that an available balance exists in the asset 
revaluation surplus.

In certain situations, an impairment loss may subsequently be 
reversed. Where an impairment loss is subsequently reversed, 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement as 
income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment reversal results in an increase in the asset 
revaluation surplus. Note 24 provides additional information in 
relation to the asset revaluation surplus.

Department property, plant and equipment assets were assessed 
for impairment as at 30 June 2020. No impairment adjustments 
were required as a result of this review.
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Depreciation and amortisation expense

Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but 
excluding land, have limited useful lives and are depreciated or 
amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives.

Amortisation applies in relation to intangible non-current assets 
with limited useful lives and is calculated and accounted for in a 
similar manner to depreciation.

The estimated useful lives for each class of asset are in accordance 
with the Treasurer’s Directions and are determined as follows:

2020 2019
Right-of-use-assets1 Term of lease Term of lease
Public buildings 50 years 50 years

Sheds/demountables 10–20 years 10–20 years

Plant and equipment 3–10 years 3–10 years

Computer hardware 3–6 years 3–6 years

Computer software 2–5 years 2–5 years

Transport equipment 2–5 years 2–5 years

1  Further information on right-of-use assets is disclosed in Note 17.

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition 
or from the time an asset is completed and held ready for use.

17. Department as a lessee

The department leases land. Lease contracts are typically made 
for fixed periods of 12 to 40 years but may have extension 
options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and 
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease 
agreements do not impose any covenants. The department does 
not provide residual value guarantees in relation to leases. 

Extension and termination options are included in a number 
of land leases. These terms are used to maximise operational 
flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of 
extension and termination options held are exercisable only by 
the department and not by the respective lessor. In determining 
the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances 
that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, 
or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods 
after termination options) are only included in the lease term if 
the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). 

The department has elected to recognise payments for  
short-term leases and low-value leases as expenses on a  
straight-line basis, instead of recognising a right-of-use asset  
and lease liability. Short-term leases are leases with a lease  
term of 12 months or less with no purchase option. Low-value 
assets are assets with a fair value of $10 000 or less when new 
and not subject to a sublease arrangement.

Right-of-use asset
The following table presents right-of-use assets included in the 
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at Note 16.

Land 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2019 8 436 8 436

Additions 1 570 1 570

Disposals - -

Amortisation expense (294) (294)

Revaluation increments/decrements 
including remeasurement

484 484

Carrying amount as at 30 June 2020 10 196 10 196

The following amounts were recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income for the year ending 30 June 2020 in 
respect of leases where the department is the lessee:

Total 
$’000

Amortisation expense of right-of-use assets 294

Interest expense on lease liabilities 386

Inter-governmental leases 4 560

Total amount recognised in the  
comprehensive operating statement

5 240

Recognition and measurement  
(under AASB 16 from 1 July 2019)
The department assesses at contract inception whether a 
contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.

The department recognises lease liabilities to make lease 
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use  
the underlying assets, except for short-term leases and leases of  
low-value assets.

The department recognises right-of-use assets at the 
commencement date of the lease (the date the underlying asset 
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are initially measured at 
the amount of initial measurement of the lease liability, adjusted 
by any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date and lease incentives, any initial direct costs incurred, 
and estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset or 
restoring the site.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the 
leased land. 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the department at 
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a 
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at fair value 
which approximates costs except for those arising from leases 
that have significantly below-market terms and conditions 
principally to enable the department to further its objectives and 
are also subject to impairment.

The right-of-use assets are subject to remeasurement principles 
consistent with the lease liability including indexation and market 
rent review that approximates fair value and only revalued where 
a trigger or event may indicate their carrying amount does not 
equal fair value.

Chapter 4 Financial statements  |  59



Inter-governmental leases
The department applies the inter-governmental leases 
recognition exemption as per the Treasurer’s Direction – Leases 
and recognises these as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. These largely relate to the lease of motor 
vehicles from NT Fleet. Leases of commercial properties for 
office accommodation are centralised with the Department of 
Corporate and Information Services. Consequently, all lease 
liabilities and right-of-use assets relating to these arrangements 
are recognised by the Department of Corporate and Information 
Services and not disclosed within these financial statements.

Recognition and measurement  
(under AASB 117 until 30 June 2019)
Leases under which the department assumes substantially all  
the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are classified as 
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.

Finance leases are capitalised and recorded under property,  
plant and equipment. A lease asset and a lease liability equal  
to the lower of the fair value of the leased property and present 
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the 
inception of the lease, are recognised.

Repayments of principal reduce lease liabilities. The interest 
components of the lease payments are expensed.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense 
in the comprehensive operating statement on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.

18. Intangibles

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Carrying amounts
Intangibles with a finite useful life
Internally generated intangibles
At valuation 295 372

Less: accumulated amortisation (237) (265)

Written down value – 30 June 57 107

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Reconciliation of movements
Intangibles with a finite useful life
Internally generated intangibles
Carrying amount at 1 July 107 156

Depreciation and amortisation (49) (49)

Carrying amount as at 30 June 57 107

19. Payables

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Accounts payable 1 502 3 500

Accrued expenses 7 000 4 775

Total payables 8 502 8 275

Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts payable are 
carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be 
paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not 
billed to the department. Accounts payable are normally settled 
within 20 days from receipt of valid invoices under $1 million or 
30 days for invoices over $1 million.

20. Borrowings and advances

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Current 
Lease liabilities 219 139

219 139
Non-current
Lease liabilities 10 527 8 455

10 527 8 455

Total borrowings and advances 10 746 8 594

Borrowings and advances are recorded initially at fair value, net 
of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Leased liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease where the department is 
the lessee, the department recognises lease liabilities measured 
at the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease 
term. Lease payments include:

• fixed payments (including in substance fixed payments) less any 
lease incentives receivable

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate

• amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees

• exercise price of purchase options reasonably certain to be 
exercised by the entity

•  payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 
term reflects the entity exercising the option to terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate 
are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce 
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that 
triggers the payment occurs.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit 
in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is 
generally the case for the department’s leases, the Northern 
Territory Treasury Corporation’s institutional bond rate is used as 
the incremental borrowing rate.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is 
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the 
lease payments made. 
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In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the 
lease payments (such as changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) 
or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Lease liabilities are determined in accordance with AASB 117 until 30 June 2019. From 1 July 2019, lease liabilities are determined in 
accordance with AASB 16.

The following table presents liabilities under leases for 2019–20:

2020 
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 8 593

Recognition of lease liabilities on initial adoption of AASB 16 334

Adjusted balance at 1 July 2019 8 927

Additions/remeasurements 2 053

Interest expenses 386

Payments (620)

Balance at 30 June 2020 10 746

The department had total cash outflows for leases of $0.620 million in 2019–20.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases not recorded as liabilities are as follows:

2020 2019
Internal 

$’000
External 

$’000
Internal 

$’000
External 

$’000
Within one year 3 603 - 3 863 -

Later than one year and not later than five years 5 533 - 5 886 -

Later than five years - - -

9 136 - 9 749 -

21. Provisions  

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Current 
Employee benefits

Recreation leave  34 817 34 204

Special remote study leave  6 792 7 009

Leave loading  4 066 4 155

Recreational leave fares  304 380

Other current provisions

Employer superannuation 
contribution

 4 156 3 624

Fringe benefits tax  797 853

Payroll tax  2 994 2 795

Total current 53 926 53 019

Non-current
Employee benefits

Special remote study leave 2 203 2 025

Total non-current  2 203 2 025

Total provisions  56 129 55 045

The department employed 4 358 full-time equivalent employees 
as at 30 June 2020 (4 405 full-time equivalent employees as at  
30 June 2019).

Employee benefits 
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a 
result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date. 
These benefits include wages and salaries and recreation leave. 
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, recreation 
leave and other employee benefit liabilities that fall due within 
12 months of reporting date are classified as current liabilities 
and are measured at amounts expected to be paid. Non-current 
employee benefit liabilities that fall due after 12 months of the 
reporting date are measured at present value, calculated using the 
government long-term bond rate.

No provision is made for sick leave, which is non-vesting, as the 
anticipated pattern of future sick leave to be taken is less than the 
entitlement accruing in each reporting period. 

Employee benefit expenses are recognised on a net basis in 
respect of the following categories:

• wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, recreation leave, 
sick leave and other leave entitlements

• other types of employee benefits.
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As part of the financial management framework, the Central 
Holding Authority assumes the long-service leave liabilities of 
government agencies, including the Department of Education,  
and as such, no long-service leave liability is recognised in  
department financial statements.

Special remote study leave
According to the Public Sector Employment and Management 
Determination 2 of 2003, employees who have undertaken 
periods of service in designated remote localities since  
1 January 1990 are eligible to accumulate credit points  
towards Special Remote Study Leave at the rates specified  
in the determination. 

Employees can accumulate a maximum of 40 credit points and 
must have accumulated a minimum of 20 credit points before 
applying for leave under this provision. The leave cannot be 
cashed out and ceases with the departure of the employee from 
the Northern Territory Public Sector.

Twenty credit points is the equivalent of taking leave on full pay 
for one school semester, or on half pay for two school semesters. 
Forty credit points is the equivalent of taking leave on full pay for 
two school semesters. 

The department recognised a liability for employees who have 
accumulated points since 1 January 2005 (excludes points for 
leave already taken) and has been measured at and restricted to 
the following:

(i) Liability calculated for those employees who have 20 or  
40 study leave points, or employees who will accrue enough 
points based on their locality at 30 June 2020 to reach  
20 or 40 points by 30 June 2021.

Current liability represents the value of leave for employees  
who have reached entitlement (i.e. 20 or 40 points), whereas  
non-current liability encompasses the value of study leave 
accrued for employees who have not yet reached entitlement  
at 30 June 2020. 

Superannuation
Employees’ superannuation entitlements are provided  
through the:

• Northern Territory Government and Public Authorities 
Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS)

• Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS)

• or non-government employee nominated schemes for those 
employees commencing on or after 10 August 1999. 

The department makes superannuation contributions on  
behalf of its employees to the Central Holding Authority  
or non-government employee-nominated schemes. 
Superannuation liabilities related to government superannuation 
schemes are held by the Central Holding Authority and as such 
are not recognised in department financial statements.

22. Other liabilities 

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Current
Unearned contract revenue 762 -

Total current 762 -

Non-current
Unearned contract revenue - -

Total non-current - -

Total other liabilities 762 -

Unearned contract revenue
Unearned contract revenue relates to consideration received 
in advance from customers in respect of educational services. 
Unearned contract revenue balances as at 30 June 2020 is  
$0.762 million (balance at 1 July 2019 was nil). 

The department anticipates to recognise as revenue any liabilities 
for unsatisfied obligations as at the end of the reporting period in 
accordance with the time bands below:

2020 
$’000

Not later than one year 762

Later than one year and not later than five years -

Later than five years -

Total 762

23. Commitments

Commitments are those contracted as at 30 June where the 
amount of the future commitment can be reliably measured. 
Following the adoption of AASB 16 Leases, operating lease 
commitments as reported in 2019, satisfying eligibility criteria, 
have now been recognised as a lease liability on the balance sheet 
and in Note 20.

Similarly, following the adoption of AASB 15 Revenue  
from contracts with customers and AASB 1058 Income of  
not-for-profit entities, a significant portion of capital 
commitments and other non-cancellable commitments as 
reported in 2019 have now been recognised as unearned 
liabilities on the balance sheet.

Disclosures in relation to capital and other commitments are 
detailed below.
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2020 2019
Internal 

$’000
External 

$’000
Internal 

$’000
External 

$’000
(i) Capital expenditure commitments1

Capital expenditure commitments primarily related to the construction 
of buildings. Capital expenditure commitments contracted for at 
balance date but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:

Within one year - - - 3 462

Later than one year and not later than five years - - - -

Later than five years - - - -

- - - 3 462

(ii) Other expenditure commitments
Other non-cancellable expenditure commitments not recognised as 
liabilities are payable as follows:

Within one year 7 911 71 801 4 308 40 830

Later than one year and not later than five years 22 765 48 703 17 232 84 418

Later than five years - 2 874 - 4 923

30 676 123 378 21 540 130 171

1  Following the centralisation of infrastructure services to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics, and the adoption of AASB 15, capital commitments are 
now recognised in DIPL’s financial statements.

24. Reserves 

Asset revaluation surplus     

(i) Nature and purpose of the asset revaluation surplus    

The asset revaluation surplus includes the net revaluation increments and decrements arising from the revaluation of non-current 
assets. Impairment adjustments may also be recognised in the asset revaluation surplus.

Land Buildings Total
2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

(ii) Movements in the asset revaluation surplus 

Balance as at 1 July 73 246 73 674 175 084 135 839 248 330 209 513
Increment/decrement 2 000 (428) 3 624 39 245 5 624 38 817
Balance as at 30 June 75 246 73 246 178 708 175 084 253 954 248 330

25. Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by  
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset 
in its highest and best use. The highest and best use takes into 
account the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally 
permissible and financially feasible.

When measuring fair value, the valuation techniques used 
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise  
the use of unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are used  

to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable 
inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities.

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are  
relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being 
valued. Observable inputs used by the department include,  
but are not limited to, published sales data for land and general 
office buildings.

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that 
are not available publicly, but are relevant to the characteristics 
of the assets/liabilities being valued. Such inputs include internal 
department adjustments to observable data to take account of 
particular and potentially unique characteristics/functionality 
of assets/liabilities and assessments of physical condition and 
remaining useful life. 
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
following fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used:

Level 1 – inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities

Level 2 – inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly

Level 3 – inputs are unobservable.

The fair value of financial instruments is determined on the 
following basis:

• the fair value of cash, deposits, advances, receivables and 
payables approximates their carrying amount, which is also 
their amortised cost

• the fair value of derivative financial instruments are derived 
using current market yields and exchange rates appropriate to 
the instrument

• the fair value of other monetary financial assets and liabilities is 
based on discounting to present value the expected future cash 
flows by applying current market interest rates for assets and 
liabilities with similar risk profiles.

a) Fair value hierarchy
The table below presents non-financial assets recognised at fair value in the balance sheet categorised by levels of inputs used to 
compute fair value.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value
2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Assets
Land1 (Note 16) - - - -  110 881  112 001  110 881  112 001

Buildings1 (Note 16) - - - - 1 183 182 1 150 721 1 183 182 1 150 721

Plant and equipment1 (Note 16) - - - -  684  4 504  684  4 504

Computer hardware1 (Note 16) - - - - -  226 -  226

Computer software1 (Note 18) - - - - 57  107 57 107

Transport equipment1 (Note 16) - - - -  1 053  1 353  1 053  1 353

Total assets - - - - 1 295 857 1 268 912 1 295 857 1 268 912

1  From 1 July 2019, property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Levels 2 or 3 during 2019–20.

b) Valuation techniques and inputs
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value in 2019–20 are:

Asset classes Level 2 techniques Level 3 techniques
Land - Highest and best use

Buildings - Cost approach

Plant and equipment - Cost approach

Computer software - Cost approach

Computer hardware - Cost approach

Transport equipment - Cost approach

There were no changes in valuation techniques from 2018–19  
to 2019–20. 

Level 3 fair values of land have been assessed having regard to 
the ‘highest and best use’ of the land but considers the economic 
constraints imposed by existing buildings, other improvements 
that are held for public benefit and impacts by buildings with 
heritage listing and historic attributes. Site characteristics such as 
the size, location, zoning, configuration and access are also taken 
into account. Consequently, land values have been discounted in 
many instances when compared to the value of the land if it was 
valued for an alternate use on a ‘highest and best use’ basis.

Level 3 fair values of specialised buildings were determined by 
computing their current depreciated replacement costs because 

an active market does not exist for such facilities. The current 
replacement cost was based on a combination of internal records 
of the historical cost of the facilities, adjusted for contemporary 
technology and construction approaches. Significant judgement 
was also used in assessing the remaining service potential of the 
facilities, given local environmental conditions, projected usage, 
and records of the current condition of the facilities.

Level 3 fair values for equipment and computer assets are 
constrained within Northern Territory Government policy 
requiring assets to be recorded initially at cost, the nature of these 
assets for the department is such they are generally low value and 
have short life spans with little opportunity to revalue.  

64  |  Department of Education Annual Report 2019–20



c) Additional information for Level 3 fair value measurements

(i) Reconciliation of recurring Level 3 fair value measurements of non-financial assets

Land 
$’000

Buildings 
$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000

Computer 
hardware 

$’000

Computer 
software 

$’000

Transport 
equipment 

$’000
Total 

$’000
2019–20
Fair value as at 1 July 2019 112 001 1 150 721 4 504 226 107 1 353 1 268 912

Recognition of right-of-use 
asset on initial application of 
AASB 16

- - - - - - -

Adjusted fair value as at  
1 July 2019

112 001 1 150 721 4 504 226 107 1 353 1 268 912

Additions/transfers in - 80 011 - - - - 80 011

Disposals/transfers out (3 120) (191) (3 505) (226) - - (7 042)

Transfers from Level 2 - - - - - - -

Transfers to Level 2 - - - - - - -

Depreciation/amortisation - (50 982) (315) - (49) (300) (51 646)

Gains/losses recognised in 
net surplus/deficit

- - - - - - -

Gains/losses recognised in 
other comprehensive income

2 000 3 623 - - - - 5 623

Fair value as at 30 June 2020 110 881 1 183 182 684 - 57 1 053 1 295 858

2018–19
Fair value as at 1 July 2018 112 579 1 090 339 1 313 595 156 1 718 1 206 700

Additions/transfers in - 67 368 3 522 - - - 70 890

Disposals/transfers out (150) (1 497) - - - - (1 647)

Transfers from Level 2 - - - - - - -

Transfers to Level 2 - - - - - - -

Depreciation/amortisation - (44 734) (331) (369) (49) (365) (45 848)

Gains/losses recognised in 
net surplus/deficit

- - - - - - -

Gains/losses recognised in 
other comprehensive income

(428) 39 245 - - - - 38 817

Fair value as at 30 June 2019 112 001 1 150 721 4 504 226 107 1 353 1 268 912

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

Buildings – Unobservable inputs used in computing the fair 
value of buildings include the historical cost and the consumed 
economic benefit for each building. Given the large number 
of department buildings, it is not practical to compute a 
relevant summary measure for the unobservable inputs. In 
respect of sensitivity of fair value to changes in input value, a 
higher historical cost results in a higher fair value and greater 
consumption of economic benefit lowers fair value.

Land – Unobservable inputs used in assessing the fair value of 
land include constraints imposed by policy and regulation on use 
and public access, opportunity costs and the estimated impact 
of economic constraints imposed by existing buildings, other 
improvements that are held for public benefit and impacts by 

buildings with heritage listing and historic attributes. Fair value of 
land is sensitive to changes in regulations and policy, and external 
economic factors driving demand. Changes to policy around 
existing use, surplus requirements, subdivision and zoning can 
significantly increase or decrease land value when location and 
demand is also considered.

Equipment and computer assets – Unobservable inputs include 
Northern Territory Government policy requiring assets to be 
recorded initially at cost, the nature of these assets for the 
department is such they are generally low value and have short 
life spans with little opportunity to revalue. It is not practical 
to compute a relevant summary measure for the unobservable 
inputs. In respect of sensitivity of fair value to changes in input 
value, a higher historical cost results in a higher fair value and 
greater consumption of economic benefit lowers fair value.
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26. Financial instruments

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial 
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument  
of another entity. 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the  
Balance Sheet when the department becomes a party to  
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.  
The department’s financial instruments include cash and  
deposits, receivables, advances, payables and finance leases.  
The department has limited exposure to financial risks as 
discussed below.

Due to the nature of operating activities, certain financial  
assets and financial liabilities arise under statutory obligations 
rather than a contract. Such financial assets and liabilities  
do not meet the definition of financial instruments as per  

AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. These include 
statutory receivables arising from taxes including GST  
and penalties. 

The department has limited exposure to financial risks as 
discussed below.

Exposure to interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk, 
price risk and liquidity risk arise in the normal course of activities. 
The NT Government’s investments, loans and placements, and 
borrowings are predominantly managed through the Northern 
Territory Treasury Corporation adopting strategies to minimise 
the risk. Derivative financial arrangements are also utilised to 
manage financial risks inherent in the management of these 
financial instruments. These arrangements include swaps, 
forward interest rate agreements and other hedging instruments 
to manage fluctuations in interest or exchange rates.

a) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the department’s financial assets and liabilities by category are disclosed in the table below.

Fair value through profit or loss
Fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

$’000

Mandatorily  
at fair value 

$’000

Designated  
at fair value 

$’000

Amortised 
cost 

$’000
Total 

$’000
2019–20
Financial assets
Cash and deposits - - 78 347 - 78 347

Receivables1 - - 1 350 - 1 350

Advances paid - - - - -

Total financial assets - - 79 697 - 79 697

Financial liabilities
Payables1 - - 1 503 - 1 503

Finance lease liabilities - - 10 747 - 10 747

Total financial liabilities - - 12 250 - 12 250

1  Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts.

Fair value through profit or loss
Fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

$’000

Mandatorily  
at fair value 

$’000

Designated  
at fair value 

$’000

Amortised  
cost 

$’000
Total 

$’000
2018–19
Financial assets
Cash and deposits - - 64 622 - 64 622

Receivables1 - - 696 - 696

Advances paid - - 1 000 - 1 000

Total financial assets - - 66 318 - 66 318

Financial liabilities
Payables1 - - 3 500 - 3 500

Finance lease liabilities - - 8 594 - 8 594

Total financial liabilities - - 12 094 - 12 094

1 Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts.
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Categories of financial instruments 

The department’s financial instruments are classified in 
accordance with AASB 9.

Financial assets are classified under the following categories:

•  amortised cost

•  fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

•  fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial liabilities are classified under the following categories:

•  amortised cost

•  fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

These classifications are based on the department’s business 
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the cash flows. Where assets are measured at fair value, 
gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss, or other 
comprehensive income. 

Financial instruments are reclassified when and only when the 
department’s business model for managing those assets changes.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in 
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are 
solely payment of principal and interest.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified at amortised cost when they are 
held by the department to collect the contractual cash flows  
and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest. 

These assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less impairment. The department’s financial assets categorised 
at amortised cost include receivables, advances paid, leases 
receivables, term deposits and certain debt securities.

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Financial assets are classified at fair value through other 
comprehensive income when they are held by the department to 
both collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial assets, 
and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest. 

These assets are initially and subsequently recognised at 
fair value. Changes in the fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment 
gains or losses and interest income which are recognised  
in the operating result in the comprehensive operating  
statement. When financial assets are derecognised, the 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to the 
comprehensive operating statement.

For equity instruments elected to be categorised at FVOCI, 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income 
are not reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition of the asset. 
Dividends from such instruments continue to be recognised in the 
comprehensive operating statement as other income when the 
department’s right to receive payments is established.

The department does not have any financial assets under  
this category.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified at FVTPL where they do not meet 
the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI. These assets are initially 
and subsequently recognised at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised in the net result for the year.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. The department’s 
financial liabilities categorised at amortised cost include all 
accounts payable, deposits held, lease liabilities and borrowings.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified at FVTPL when the liabilities are 
either held for trading or designated as FVTPL. Financial liabilities 
classified at FVTPL are initially and subsequently measured at fair 
value with gains or losses recognised in the net result for the year.

For financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, changes in the  
fair value of the liability attributable to changes in the 
department’s credit risk are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, while remaining changes in the fair value are recognised 
in the net result.

The department does not have any financial liabilities under  
this category.

Derivatives

The department may enter into a variety of derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. The 
department does not speculate on trading of derivatives.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at their fair value at each reporting date. The 
resulting gain or loss is recognised in the comprehensive operating 
statement immediately unless the derivative is designated and 
qualifies as an effective hedging instrument, in which event, 
the timing of the recognition in the comprehensive operating 
statement depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. 
Application of hedge accounting will only be available where 
specific designation and effectiveness criteria are satisfied. 

Netting of swap transactions

The department, from time to time, may facilitate certain 
structured finance arrangements, where a legally recognised right 
to set-off financial assets and liabilities exists, and the Territory 
intends to settle on a net basis. Where these arrangements occur, 
the revenues and expenses are offset and the net amount is 
recognised in the comprehensive operating statement.

b) Credit risk
The department has limited credit risk exposure (risk of 
default). In respect of any dealings with organisations external 
to government, the department has adopted a policy of only 
dealing with credit worthy organisations and obtaining sufficient 
collateral or other security where appropriate as a means of 
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial 
statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the 
department’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking 
account of the value of any collateral or other security obtained.
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Credit risk relating to receivables is disclosed in Note 14 and 
advances paid in Note 15.

c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk the department will not be able to meet its 
financial obligations as they fall due. The department’s approach 
to managing liquidity is to ensure it will always have sufficient 
funds to meet its liabilities when they fall due. This is achieved by 
ensuring minimum levels of cash are held in the department bank 
account to meet various current employee and supplier liabilities. 
The department’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimal. 

Cash injections are available from the Central Holding Authority 
in the event one-off extraordinary expenditure items arise that 
deplete cash to levels that compromise the department’s ability  
to meet its financial obligations. 

The following tables detail the department’s remaining 
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities, calculated based 
on undiscounted cash flows at reporting date. The undiscounted 
cash flows in these tables differ from the amounts included in the 
balance sheet, which are based on discounted cash flows. 

2020 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

Carrying amount 
$’000

Less than  
a year 
$’000

1 to 5 years 
$’000

More than  
5 years 

$’000
Total 

$’000
Liabilities
Payables 1 503 1 503 - - 1 503

Finance lease liabilities 10 747 614 - 2 819 18 376

Advances - - - - -

Total financial liabilities 12 250 2 117 - 2 819 19 879

2019 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

Carrying amount 
$’000

Less than  
a year 
$’000

1 to 5 years 
$’000

More than  
5 years 

$’000
Total 

$’000
Liabilities
Payables 3 500 3 500 - - 3 500

Finance lease liabilities 8 594 139 - 8 455 8 594

Advances - - - - -

Total financial liabilities 12 094 3 639 - 8 455 12 094

d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices. It comprises interest rate risk, price risk and currency risk. 

(i) Interest rate risk

The department is not exposed to interest rate risk as 
departmental financial assets and financial liabilities, with the 
exception of finance leases are non interest bearing. Finance lease 
arrangements are established on a fixed interest rate and as such 
do not expose the department to interest rate risk. 

(ii) Price risk

The department is not exposed to price risk as the department 
does not hold units in unit trusts.

(iii) Currency risk

The department is not exposed to currency risk as the department 
does not hold borrowings denominated in foreign currencies or 
transactional currency exposures arising from purchases in a 
foreign currency.

27. Related parties

(i) Related parties
The Department of Education is a government administrative 
entity and is wholly owned and controlled by the Territory 
Government. Related parties of the department include: 

• the portfolio minister and key management personnel  
(KMP) because they have authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
department directly

• close family members of the portfolio minister or KMP 
including spouses, children and dependants

• all public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated 
into the whole-of-government financial statements

• any entities controlled or jointly controlled by KMPs or the 
portfolio minister or controlled or jointly controlled by their 
close family members.
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(ii) Key management personnel (KMP)
Key management personnel of the Department of Education are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the department. These include the Minister for Education, the Chief Executive Officer  
and nine members of the Education Executive Board.

(iii) Remuneration of key management personnel
The details below excludes the salaries and other benefits of the Minister for Education as the minister’s remuneration and  
allowances are payable by the Department of the Legislative Assembly and consequently disclosed within the Treasurer’s annual 
financial statements. 

The aggregate compensation of key management personnel for the department is set out below:

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Short-term benefits 2 449 2 379

Long-term benefits 231 250

Termination benefits - -

Total 2 680 2 629

(iv) Related party transactions

Transactions with Northern Territory Government-controlled entities

The department’s primary ongoing source of funding is received from the Central Holding Authority in the form of output appropriation 
and on-passed Commonwealth national partnership and specific-purpose payments.

The following table provides quantitative information about related party transactions entered into during the year with all other 
Northern Territory Government controlled entities.

2020 Transactions with Northern Territory Government-controlled entities

 Related party

Revenue  
from related parties 

$’000

Payments  
to related parties 

$’000

Amounts owed by 
related parties 

$’000

Amounts owed to 
related parties 

$’000
All NT Government departments 68 499 84 259 - 160

Associates - - - -

Subsidiaries - - - -

The department’s transactions with other government entities are not individually significant. 

2019 Transactions with Northern Territory Government-controlled entities

 Related party

Revenue from 
related parties 

$’000

Payments  
to related parties 

$’000

Amounts owed by 
related parties 

$’000

Amounts owed to 
related parties 

$’000
All NT Government departments 15 105 57 365 5 2 937

Associates - - - -

Subsidiaries - - - -

The department’s transactions with other government entities are not individually significant.
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28. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

a) Contingent liabilities
The department had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 or 30 June 2019.

b) Contingent assets
The department had no contingent assets as at 30 June 2020 or 30 June 2019.

29. Events subsequent to balance date

No events have arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report that require adjustment to, or disclosure in, 
these financial statements.

30. Accountable Officer’s Trust Account

In accordance with section 7 of the Financial Management Act 1995, an Accountable Officer’s Trust Account has been established for 
the receipt of money to be held in trust. A summary of activity is shown below:

Nature of trust money

Opening balance 
1 July 2019 

$’000
Receipts 

$’000
Payments 

$’000

Closing balance 
30 June 2020 

$’000
Key deposits 5 - - 5

Total  5 -  -  5
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31. Schedule of administered Territory items

The following Territory items are managed by the department on behalf of the government and are recorded in the  
Central Holding Authority.

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Territory income and expenses
Income
Grants and subsidies revenue

Capital 3 871 4 464

Fees from regulatory services 484 606

Total income 4 355 5 070

Expenses
Central Holding Authority income transferred 4 355 5 070

Total expenses 4 355 5 070

Territory income less expenses - -

Territory assets and liabilities
Assets
Current assets
Receivables 3 930 2 961

Total current assets 3 930 2 961

Non-current assets
Receivables 1 960 -

Total non-current assets 1 960 -

Total assets 5 890 2 961

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Central Holding Authority income payable 185 2 961

Other liabilities 3 745 -

Total current liabilities 3 930 2 961

Non-current liabilities
Other liabilities 1 960 -

Total non-current liabilities 1 960 -

Total liabilities 5 890 2 961

Net assets - -
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32. Budgetary information

Comprehensive operating statement

2019–20 
Actual 
 $’000

2019–20 
Original 
budget 

$’000
Variance 

$’000 Note
Income
Grants and subsidies revenue

Current 9 574 5 386 4 188

Capital - - -

Appropriation

Output 525 735 588 557 (62 822) 1

Commonwealth 459 760 414 400 45 360 2

Sales of goods and services 7 699 3 955 3 744

Goods and services received free of charge1 67 068 15 065 52 003 3

Gain on disposal of assets 17 - 17

Other income 1 884 100 1 784

Total income 1 071 737 1 027 463 44 274

Expenses 
Employee expenses 512 077 531 521 (19 444) 4

Administrative expenses

Purchases of goods and services 50 416 73 278 (22 862) 5

Repairs and maintenance - 30 103 (30 103) 6

Property management 4 803 2 810 1 993

Depreciation and amortisation 51 939 47 981 3 958

Services free of charge1 67 068 15 065 52 003 7

Other administrative expenses 663 - 663

Grants and subsidies expenses

Current 414 917 375 130 39 787 8

Capital 6 179 6 042 137

Finance expenses

Interest expenses 386 300 86

Total expenses 1 108 448 1 082 230 26 218

Net surplus/(deficit) (36 711) (54 767) 18 056

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/deficit
Asset revaluation reserve 5 624 - 5 624 9

Transfers from reserves 183 - 183

Total other comprehensive income 5 807 - 5 807

Comprehensive result (30 904) (54 767) 23 863

1  Includes Department of Corporate and Information Services service charges and Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics repairs and maintenance  
service charges.
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Notes: 

The following note descriptions relate to major variances  
greater than $5 million or where multiple significant variances 
have occurred. 

1. The decrease of $62.8 million in output appropriation was 
mainly related to the impact of the corporate services reform 
initiative, which saw corporate services functions such as 
human resources, information technology services and the 
repairs and maintenance program transferred from the 
department’s budget to centralised agencies.

2. The increase of $45.4 million in Commonwealth 
Appropriation is primarily due to additional National Schools 
Reform Agreement funding for non-government education.

3. The increase of $52 million of goods and services received 
free of charge relates to the transfer of corporate functions 
to centralised agencies for the delivery of human resources, 
information technology and other corporate functions, 
including the repairs and maintenance program.

4. The underspend of $19.4 million in employee expenses is 
mainly due to:

• transfer of employees to central agencies as part of 
corporate services reform

• underspending by schools, which will be carried over to 
Semester 2 of the school year (2020–21)

• recruitment delays in externally funded programs, in 
particular National Partnership Agreement on NT Remote 
Aboriginal Investment.

5. The underspend of $22.9 million in purchases of goods and 
services is predominantly due to:

• transfer of operational expenditure and information 
technology project funding to central agencies as part of 
corporate services reform

• reduced procurement due to impact of COVID-19

• transfer of operational budget to future years to meet 
revised program funding timelines.

6. The decrease of $30.1 million is due to the transfer of the 
repairs and maintenance budget to the Department of 
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics as part of the corporate 
services reform initiative.

7. The increase of $52 million of goods and services received 
free of charge relates to the transfer of corporate functions 
to centralised agencies for the delivery of human resources, 
information technology and other corporate functions, 
including the repairs and maintenance program.

8. The increase of $39.8 million in current grants is due to 
the additional Commonwealth National Schools Reform 
Agreement funding for non-government schools, which 
was passed on to those schools according to the funding 
arrangement in place with the Commonwealth.

9. The increase of $5.6 million in the asset revaluation reserve 
predominately relates to:

• Crown land of $2 million transferred in for Zuccoli  
Primary School

• revaluation adjustment of government school buildings  
of $3.6 million.
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Balance sheet

2019–20 
Actual 
 $’000

2019–20 
Original 
budget 

$’000
Variance 

$’000 Note
Assets
Current assets

Cash and deposits 78 347 77 069 1 278

Receivables 2 505 3 787 (1 282)

Advances and investments - 2 500 (2 500)

Prepayments 1 432 1 642 (210)

Other assets - 117 (117)

Total current assets 82 284 85 115 (2 831)

Non-current assets
Advances and investments - - -

Property, plant and equipment 1 305 996 1 204 423 101 573 1

Intangibles  57 - 57

Total non-current assets 1 306 053 1 204 423 101 630

Total assets 1 388 337 1 289 538 98 799

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Deposits held 5 4 1

Payables 8 502 15 690 (7 188) 2

Borrowings and advances 219 121 98

Provisions 53 926 55 873 (1 947)

Other liabilities 762 - 762

Total current liabilities 63 414 71 688 (8 274)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings and advances 10 527 8 222 2 305

Provisions 2 203 2 636 (433)

Total non-current liabilities 12 730 10 858 1 872

Total liabilities 76 144 82 546 (6 402)

Net assets 1 312 193 1 206 992 105 201

Equity
Capital 1 531 627 1 503 848 27 779 3

Reserves 253 954 209 513 44 441 4

Accumulated funds (473 387) (506 369) 32 982

Total equity 1 312 193 1 206 992 105 201
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Notes: 

The following note descriptions relate to major variances  
greater than $5 million or where multiple significant variances 
have occurred. 

1. The increase of $101.6 million in property, plant and 
equipment predominately relates to:

• transfer of completed buildings of $80.3 million from the 
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics

• Crown land of $2 million transferred in for Zuccoli  
Primary School

• revaluation adjustment of government school buildings  
of $3.6 million.

2. The decrease in payables reflects a decrease in outstanding 
creditors in 2019–20.

3. The increase in capital of $27.8 million predominately  
relates to:

• transfer of completed buildings of $80.3 million from the 
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics

• transfer of $9.6 million cash at bank to the Department of 
Information and Corporate Services to fund the completion 
of information technology projects as part of the corporate 
services reform initiative

• Crown land of $3.1 transferred to the Department of 
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics for the former 
Sanderson Neighbourhood Activity Centre

• transfer of property, plant and equipment of $2.5 million  
to the Department of Corporate and Information Services 
as part of the corporate services reform initiative.

4. The movement in reserves of $44.4 million predominately 
relates to:

• Crown land of $2 million transferred in for Zuccoli  
Primary School

• revaluation adjustment of government school buildings  
of $3.6 million

• the remaining variance relates to the revaluation of 
government buildings and land completed in late 2018–19, 
not reflected in the original 2018–19 budget.
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Cash flow statement

2019–20 
Actual 
 $’000

2019–20 
Original 
budget 

$’000
Variance 

$’000 Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating receipts
Grants and subsidies received

Current 9 574 5 386 4 188

Capital - - -

Appropriation 

Output 525 735 588 557 (62 822) 1

Commonwealth 459 760 414 400 45 360 2

Receipts from sales of goods and services 21 630 4 055 17 575 3

Total operating receipts 1 016 699 1 012 398 4 301
Operating payments
Payments to employees 507 786 531 521 (23 735) 4

Payments for goods and services 65 123 106 191 (41 068) 5

Grants and subsidies paid

Current 414 917 375 130 39 787 6

Capital 6 179 6 042 137

Interest paid 386 300 86

Total operating payments 994 391 1 019 184 (24 793)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 22 308 (6 786) 29 094

Cash flows from investing activities
Investing receipts
Proceeds from asset sales 17 - 17

Repayment of advances 1 000 1 000 -

Total investing receipts 1 017 1 000 17
Investing payments
Purchases of assets - 6 311 (6 311) 7

Advances and investing payments - - -

Total investing payments - 6 311 (6 311)

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 1 017 (5 311) 6 328

Cash flows from financing activities
Financing receipts
Deposits received - - -

Equity injections

Capital appropriation - - -

Commonwealth appropriation - - -

Other equity injections 391 - 391

Total financing receipts 391 - 391
Financing payments
Finance lease payments 234 - 234

Equity withdrawals 9 757 - 9 757 8

Total financing payments 9 991 - 9 991

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (9 600) - (9 600)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 13 725 (12 097) 25 822 9

Cash at beginning of financial year 64 622 89 166 (24 544)

Cash at end of financial year 78 347 77 069 1 278
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Notes: 

The following note descriptions relate to major variances  
greater than $5 million or where multiple significant variances 
have occurred. 

1. The decrease of $62.8 million in output appropriation 
payments was mainly related to the impact of the corporate 
services reform initiative, which saw corporate services 
functions such as human resources, information technology 
services and the repairs and maintenance program transferred 
from the department’s budget to centralised agencies.

2. The increase of $45.4 million in Commonwealth Appropriation 
payments is primarily due to additional National Schools 
Reform Agreement funding for non-government education.

3. Receipts from sales of goods and services have increased by 
$17.6 million, largely as a result of:

• GST receipts from the Australian Taxation Office of  
$9.2 million not included in the original budget

• increased school contributions to employ additional staff  
in schools.

4. Payments to employees was underspent by $23.7 million 
predominantly relating to:

• transfer of employees to central agencies as part of 
corporate services reform

• underspending by schools, which will be carried over to 
Semester 2 of the school year (2020–21)

• recruitment delays in externally funded programs, in 
particular, the National Partnership Agreement on  
NT Remote Aboriginal Investment.

5. The underspend of $41.1 million in payments for goods and 
services is predominantly due to the transfer of operational 
expenditure, information technology project funding and the 
repairs and maintenance program to central agencies as part 
of corporate services reform initiative.

6. The increase of $39.8 million in current grants is due to 
the additional Commonwealth National Schools Reform 
Agreement funding for non-government schools, which 
was passed on to those schools according to the funding 
arrangement in place.

7. The decrease in purchases of assets relates to the transfer  
of capital expenditure for information technology projects 
to the Department of Corporate and Information Services as 
part of the corporate services reform initiative.

8. Equity withdrawals increased by $9.8 million due to the 
transfer of cash at bank to the Department of Information 
and Corporate Services to fund the completion of information 
technology projects as part of the corporate services  
reform initiative.

9. The increase in cash held of $25.8 million reflects the  
2019–20 operating and cash flow statement outcome.
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33. Budgetary information: Administered Territory items

In addition to the specific departmental operations included in the financial statements, the department administers or manages  
other activities and resources on behalf of the Territory such as taxes, fines and regulatory fees. The department does not gain  
control over assets arising from these collections; consequently, no income is recognised in the department’s financial statements.  
The transactions relating to these activities are reported as administered items in this note.

Administered Territory items

2019–20 
Actual  
 $’000

2019–20 
Original 
budget 

$’000
Variance 

$’000 Note
Territory income and expenses
Income
Grants and subsidies revenue

Capital 3 871 4 352 (481)

Fees from regulatory services  484  514 (30)

Total income 4 355 4 866 (511)

Expenses
Central Holding Authority income 4 355 4 866 (511)

Total expenses 4 355 4 866 (511)

Territory income less expenses - - -

Territory assets and liabilities
Assets
Current assets
Receivables 3 930 - 3 930 1

Total current assets 3 930 - 3 930

Non-current assets
Receivables 1 960 - 1 960 1

Total non-current assets  1 960  -  1 960

Total assets  5 890  -  5 890

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Central Holding Authority income payable  185 -  185

Other liabilities 3 745 - 3 745 2

Total current liabilities  3 930  -  3 930

Non-current liabilities
Other liabilities 1 960 - 1 960 2

Total non-current liabilities 1 960  - 1 960

Total liabilities 5 890  - 5 890

Net assets  -  - -

Notes: 

The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than 10 per cent, or where multiple significant variances have occurred.

1. The increase in receivables relates to contributions from various government schools for minor new works projects. 

2. Central Holding Authority other liabilities reflects the transfer of Territory receivables to the Central Holding Authority,  
relating to contributions from various government schools for minor new works projects. 
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Appendix 1 – Infrastructure activities

Activity, 2019–20 Status at year end
• Round 3, Building Better Schools program providing new and improved  

school facilities in government schools ($0.30M per school)
Works completed at 30 schools and  
49 schools in the planning and 
construction stages 

• Rooftop Solar in Schools program in 25 government schools Completed at 5 schools and 13 schools  
in progress/planning stages

• Refurbishment and upgrade of homeland learning centres –  
Manmoyi, Mamadawerre and Murrunga ($0.53M)

Completed 

• Major works

 – Zuccoli School Stage 1 – construction of new school ($17.4M) Completed 

 – Darwin Middle School – new multipurpose hall, Stage 2 of the Bullocky Point 
Education Precinct ($15.9M)

Completed 

 – Acacia Hill School – new reception, administration, classrooms, flood mitigation 
works and other spaces ($6.8M)

Completed 

 – Centralian Middle School – upgrade gym, stage and other renovations ($1.32M) Completed

• Projects commenced 

 – Casuarina Senior College – upgrade STEM facilities ($3.0M) In tender phase

 – Katherine High School – library and learning resource centre ($0.54M) In tender assessment phase 

 – Leanyer Primary School – replacement of transportable classrooms with  
four new general learning areas ($2.0M)

In planning phase

 – Tennant Creek High School – construction of a new building to support  
engagement programs such as STARS and Clontarf ($2.0M)

In planning phase

 – Alyarrmandumanja Umbakumba School – replace ablution block ($0.75M) In planning phase

 – Bakewell Primary School – car park and outside school hours care facility ($0.63M) In planning phase

 – M’Bunghara School – infrastructure upgrades ($0.60M) In planning phase

 – Shepherdson College – outdoor play area ($0.54M) In planning phase

 – Alawa Primary School/Nemarluk School – traffic management upgrades ($0.570M) In design phase

 – Forrest Parade School – infrastructure updates ($0.97) In design phase

 – Zuccoli School Stage 2 ($22.18M) Construction commenced

 – Stage 3, Bullocky Point Education Precinct – landscape master plan ($2.4M) Construction commenced

 – Casuarina Senior College – refurbish library ($1.11M) Construction commenced
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Classification group
2015–16 

FTE
2016–17 

FTE
2017–18 

 FTE
2018–19  

FTE
2019–20  

FTE
Administration Officer 1105.8 1154.2 1182.0 1212.6 1186.6

Assistant Teacher 157.9 167.8 155.86  149.8  143.2

Classroom Teacher 1876.8 1952.0 1914 1975.7 1979.8

Executive Contract Officer 33.9 31.9 33.3  35.0  29.01

Executive Contract Principal 87.4 89.0 86.0  91.5  90.3

Executive Officer 2.0 1.0 1.0  2.0  3.0

Physical 93.1 92.5 83.3  81.9  80.8

Principal 82.5 74.4 81.5  82.9  84.5

Professional 43.8 43.8 48.4  49.1  53.2

Senior Administration Officer 110.2 111.5 116.7  134.4  122.9

Senior Teacher 532.9 549.0 573.1  567.2  573.4

Technical 3.0 2.7 3.0  4.0  3.0

Trainee and Apprentice 13.1 13.8 6.7  19.5  8.2

Total 4142.3 4283.5 4284.8 4405.5 4357.9

Sources: PIPS pay 27, 2015–16; pay 26, 2016–17; pay 26, 2017–18; pay 26, 2018–19; and pay 26, 2019–20.

Note: Calculations are based on precise data; therefore, some FTE totals may not correspond with the sum of separate figures due to rounding. 
 Workforce data includes staffing for the Teacher Registration Board.

 1 Includes two Executive Contract Officers that were on extended leave

Appendix 2 – Workforce profile
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Grants paid by the Department of Education to families and non-government organisations

Service provided 2019–20
Grants to non-government schools $44.76M

Tertiary providers assistance $9.22M

Back-to-school grants to NT families $6.78M

VET in schools $5.69M

Early childhood services subsidy $5.56M

Boy’s engagement and mentoring program $2.91M

Girls’ engagement and mentoring program $2.33M

Grants to education organisations $0.92M

Community-based special education programs $0.60M

School sports programs $0.54M

Early childhood education and care $0.51M

Edmund Rice Foundation $0.42M

Other NT families grants $0.34M

COVID-19 special assistance grants $0.34M

Student assistance scheme grants to eligible NT families $0.31M

COGSO regional governance officers $0.3M

Indigenous Education Review implementation $0.25M

Student wellbeing and inclusion $0.22M

Professional learning and development for NT educators $0.20M

Other $0.03M

Total $82.23M

 

Appendix 3 – Grants
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Location Phone Website/email
Department of Education Level 10, Mitchell Centre 

55–59 Mitchell Street 
DARWIN NT 0800

GPO Box 4821 
DARWIN NT 0801

08 8999 5659 www.education.nt.gov.au 

infocentre.det@nt.gov.au

Early Childhood Education and Care Level 10, Mitchell Centre 
DARWIN NT 0800

08 8901 1350 earlychild.det@nt.gov.au

Quality Education and Care NT Level 10, Mitchell Centre 
DARWIN NT 0800

08 8999 3561 qualityecnt.det@nt.gov.au

Freedom of information and privacy Level 10, Mitchell Centre 
DARWIN NT 0800

08 8901 1379 detfoi.det@nt.gov.au

International education services Level 10, Mitchell Centre 
DARWIN NT 0800

08 8901 1336 internationalservice@nt.gov.au

Communications and media Level 10, Mitchell Centre 
DARWIN NT 0800

08 8901 4968 comms.doe@nt.gov.au

NT government schools The NT Department of Education operates  
153 schools across the NT. Addresses and contact 
details for these schools are available on our website.

www.education.nt.gov.au/contact

Vocational education and training 
delivered to secondary students

Level 10, Mitchell Centre 
DARWIN NT 0800

08 8963 5500 vetis.det@nt.gov.au

 

Appendix 4 – How to contact us
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AAO Administrative Arrangements Order

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board

AOTA Accountable Officer’s Trust Account

ATO Australian Taxation Office

COGSO Council of Government Schools Organisation

CSS Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme

DCIS Department of Corporate and Information Services

DIPL Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics

DoE Department of Education

FMA Financial Management Act 1995

FTE Full-time equivalent

FVOCI Fair value through other comprehensive income

FVTPL Fair value through profit or loss

GST Goods and services tax

KMP Key management personnel

ICT Information and communication technology

LANE Literacy and Numeracy Essentials program

 NAPLAN National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy

NT Northern Territory

NTCET NT Certificate of Education and Training

NTG NT Government

NTGPASS NT Government and Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme

PIPS Personnel Information and Payroll System

SPP Special Purpose Payments

STEM Science, technology, engineering and mathematics

VET Vocational education and training

Appendix 5 – Acronyms and glossary
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education.nt.gov.au

Department of Education

E infocentre.det@nt.gov.au

T +61 8 8999 5659

http://www.education.nt.gov.au
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